### Probing the Mechanistic and Therapeutic Intervention for the Drug Induced Age Reverse Procedure



By

### Marvah Mehmood Rana

### **Master of Sciences in Bioinformatics**

Fall 20-MSBI-NUST00000327214

Supervised by:

**Prof. Dr. Ishrat Jabeen** 

School of Interdisciplinary Engineering and Sciences (SINES)

National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

September, 2022

## Probing the Mechanistic and Therapeutic Intervention for the Drug Induced Age Reverse Procedure

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master's in Bioinformatics



By

### Marvah Mehmood Rana

**Master of Sciences in Bioinformatics** 

Fall 20-MSBI-NUST00000327214

Supervised by:

Prof. Dr. Ishrat Jabeen

School of Interdisciplinary Engineering and Sciences (SINES)

National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

September, 2022

# **CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY**

I hereby declare that the research work presented in this thesis has been generated by me as a result of my own research work. Moreover, none of its contents are plagiarized or submitted for any kind of assessment or higher degree. I have acknowledged and referenced all the main sources of help in this work.

Marvah Mehmood Rana

Fall 2020-MS BI-5 00000327214

# Dedication

This study is wholeheartedly dedicated to my grandparents

# Sufi M. Anwar and Irshad Beghum

and my parents

# Mehmood Iqbal and Humaira Mehmood Rana

who have been the source of inspiration and gave me the strength when I was about to give up, who continuously provided the emotional, spiritual, and financial support.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank Allah Almighty for giving me this opportunity and assisting me in reaching my objectives. I would like to express my gratitude to all of my instructors for their guidance and instruction during my MS. Their dedication allowed me to complete my degree. I owe a great deal of gratitude to my research supervisor, *Professor Dr. Ishrat Jabeen*, for her support and direction during this study. Her never-ending enthusiasm for research has given countless students a positive setting to perform their research. I also like to thank *Dr. Yusra Sajid Kiani*, who is my co-supervisor, for being the best mentor and advisor. It was a privilege to work under her direction.

I appreciate the insightful remarks and support of *Dr. Zamir Hussain* and *Dr. Muhammad Tariq Saeed* from SINES, NUST, who are members of my guiding committee. I also like to thank the engineers and assistants from the SINES lab for their technical assistance.

My parents, *Mehmood Iqbal* and *Humaira Mehmood Rana*, deserve all the credit for supporting me throughout my career, sincerely praying for me and getting me to where I am today because they gave me emotional, moral, and financial support while also encouraging me to work towards my objectives. I would also like to thank my sister *Mariam Mehmood Rana* and my brothers *Dawood Usman* and *Mohammad Bin Mehmood* for all the love, prayers and support.

I feel immensely blessed to have a genuine and honest best friend like *Talha Sarfraz* who supported me through every thick and thin. I am thankful to him for all the encouragement, emotional support, prayers, sincere advices and laughters.

In addition, I want to thank my coworkers *Umar Amjid, Fatima Ali Khan, Laiba Fatima, Waseeq Ahmad Minhas, Mah-e-Hareem,* and *Rabiya Gulzar* for making the lab such a welcoming and positive working space. I want to thank all of my MS Bioinformatics Fall 2020 classmates for their encouragement. I also appreciate my seniors, Ubair Aziz and Awais Attique, for their advice and scientific conversation.

#### Marvah Mehmood Rana

# **Table of Contents**

\_\_\_\_\_

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	X
Abstract	11
Chapter 1	13
1. Introduction	
1.1 The aging process	
1.2 Causes of aging	14
1.4 Shelterin proteins	15
1.5 Telomerase	16
1.6 Telomeres shortening	
1.7 The hayflick limit	
1.8 Telomeres shortening and aging	19
1.9 Antiaging or age reversing	
1.10 Telomerase (hTERT) activation and antiaging	
1.11 Problem statement	
1.12 Objectives	
Chapter 2	
2. Literature Review	
2.1 Influence of aging	
2.2 Structure and function of hTERT	
2.3 Structure and function of p53	30

2.3 hTERT regulation and activation:		
2.4 Signaling pathway of hTERT and aging		
2.4.1 c-Myc		
2.4.2 Sp1	35	
2.4.3 p53		
2.4.4 ROS		
2.4.5 NFκB		
2.5 Existing strategies for antiaging		
Chapter 3	43	
3. Methodology		
3.1 Biological Regulatory Network (BRN) construction and its dynamic simul	ation . 43	
3.2 Activators data collection	44	
3.3 Molecular docking	46	
3.4 Analysis and visualization of docked complexes	46	
3.5 Molecular dynamic simulation of the docked complexes	46	
Chapter 4	49	
4. <b>Results</b>	49	
4.1 Biological Regulatory Network (BRN) simulations of hTERT and p53	49	
4.2 Dynamic model simulations:	52	
4.3 Molecular Docking	56	
4.4 Interactions between the molecules of docked complexes	57	
4.5 Molecular dynamic simulations of docked complexes	59	
Chapter 5		
5. Discussion		
Conclusion		

<b>References</b>
-------------------

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Causes of Aging are depicted in the figure that are stem cell exhaustion,
genomic in stability, mitochondrial dysfunction, cellular senescence, altered intracellular
communication, telomeres attrition, epigenetic alterations, deregulated nutrient sensing
and loss of proteostasis
Figure 1.2. Six proteins making a shelterin complex along with the telomerase complex.
Figure 2.1. 3D Structure of hTERT comprised of 1132 residues and four domains
visualized by MOE
Figure 2.2. General 3D structure of p53 having 393 amino acid residues and contains
transcription factor structural domain
Figure 2.3. A knowledge driven biological regulatory network including different genes
and proteins interacting positively or negatively with each other
Figure 2.4. 2D structure of <i>Centella asiatica</i> extract formulation 08AGTLF that showed
a positive impact on telomerase activity
<b>Bigure 3.1.</b> Schematic diagram representing the methodology used in this study
Figure 4.1. Biological regulatory network (BRN) of hTERT and p53 in a normal human
cell. The hTERT mediated signals play an important role in cell proliferation and p53
plays a crucial role in cell apoptosis
Figure 4.2. Jimena's dynamic simulations of the biological regulatory network of hTERT
and p53 reveal the effect of activator-mediated effluxes on the regulation of cell
proliferation and death by hTERT and p53. The x-axis indicates time in seconds and the
y-axis indicates the relative concentration of activators and inhibitors. (a) The results of
the simulation with Sp1 in its inactive initial state. b) The simulation outcomes when Sp1
is initially in the active state. (c) The simulated consequences when Sp1 is originally
maintained in its hyperactive state
Figure 4.3. Jimena's dynamic simulations of the biological regulatory network of hTERT
and p53 reveal the effect of two activator-mediated effluxes (Sp1 and c-Myc) on the
regulation of cell proliferation and death by hTERT and p53. The x-axis indicates time in
seconds and the y-axis indicates the relative concentration of activators and inhibitors. (a)

The results of the simulation with Sp1 and c-Myc in their active beginning configuration.
(b) The simulation outcomes when Sp1 and c-Myc are initially in hyperactive states 54
Figure 4.4. Interacting residues of all the activators (c-Myc, STAT3, HIF1a and c-Jun)
with hTERT within a docked complex, given by pdbsum
Figure 4.5. Molecular dynamic simulation of c-Myc-hTERT complex for 50 ns, which
depicts lowest RMSD of complex at 0 ns and 0.5-0.6 at 50 ns
Figure 4.6. The interaction sites of binding residues before and after Molecular dynamic
simulation in c-Myc-hTERT complex60
Figure 4.7. Serine, Histidine, Leucine and Aspartic acid are the most fluctuating residues
in c-Myc-hTERT complex
Figure 4.8. Radius of gyration at 3.7 nm shows that c-Myc-hTERT complex is
significantly compacted
Figure 4.9. Molecular Dynamic Simulation of STAT3-hTERT complex for 25 ns, which
depicts lowest RMSD of complex at 0 ns and 0.5-0.6 at 25 ns
Figure 4.10. The interaction sites of binding residues before and after Molecular dynamic
simulation in STAT3-hTERT complex
Figure 4.11. Arginine, Glutamic acid, Serine are the most fluctuating residues in STAT3-
hTERT complex
Figure 4.12. Radius of gyration at 3.3 nm shows that STAT3-hTERT complex is
significantly compacted

# LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 3.1.</b> The PDB IDs, resolutions and structures of positive regulators of hTERT 45
Table 4.1. Parameter values of entities interacting with hTERT and p53 before and after
simulations generated by Jimena
Table 4.2. Parameter values of entities interacting with hTERT and p53 before and after
simulations generated by Jimena
Table 4.3. The number of conformations generated and the cluster center score of the top
ranked pose from all docked complexes
Table 4.4. c-Myc-hTERT complex hydrogen bonding residues and binding interactions
at 0 ns and 50 ns
Table 4.5. STAT3-hTERT complex hydrogen bonding residues and binding interactions
at 0 ns and 25 ns

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

hTERT	Human telomerase reverse transcriptase
hTERC	Human telomerase RNA component
BRN	Biological regulatory network
MDS	Molecular dynamic simulation
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
ALE-B	Average life expectancy at birth
TEN	Telomerase N-terminal domains
RT	Reverse transcriptase
CTE	C-terminal extension
TRBD	Telomerase RNA binding domain
DDR	DNA damage response
ТЕР	Telomerase protein component ALP
hALP	Human N-acetyle transferase like protein
TEIF	Transcription element interacting factor
STAT3	Signal transducer and
HIF1a	Hypoxia inducible factor 1 alpha
USF	Upstream stimulatory factor
KEGG	Kyoto encyclopedia
PDB	Protein data bank
RMSD	Root mean square deviation
FFT	Fast fourier transform

#### Abstract

Telomeres protect chromosomal ends during cell replication. Cell division shortens telomeres, causing senescence, differentiation, or necrosis and eventually aging. Aging caused by telomeres shortening is linked to diabetes, hypertension, Alzheimer's, and cancer. Therefore, activating hTERT (human telomerase reverse transcriptase), which lengthens telomeres, or boosting telomerase component expression can repair degeneration and postpone or reverse aging but the hyper activated hTERT promotes cell proliferation or cancer. hTERT mediated cell proliferation and p53 mediated cell apoptosis is critical in determining the cell fate. In order to reverse the aging effects of telomere shortening and keep cell proliferation under control, activities of hTERT and p53 must be kept within a normal range. A biological regulatory network (BRN) has been constructed and describe the dual role of Sp1 that activates both hTERT and p53. Moreover, the normal, moderately active and hyperactive states of Sp1 was related to the normal, moderately active and hyperactive concentration gradients of hTERT and p53 for the maintenance of normal cell proliferation and apoptosis. Furthermore, Protein-Protein docking helped in elucidating the binding patterns of hTERT activators like c-Myc and STAT3. Molecular dynamic simulations validated the stability of docked complex binding patterns by RMSD, RMSF, and Radius of gyration. Additionally, the binding site residues of hTERT Arg-224, Arg-293 and Arg-535 showed hydrogen bonding in c-Myc-hTERT complex before and after MD simulation, whereas the interacting residues Gly-35, Arg-63, Asp-147, Trp-203, Ser-206, Ser-227 and Ala-228 showed the stable hydrogen bonding before and after MD simulation in STAT3-hTERT complex, Arg-208, Arg-224 and Glu-533 formed the salt bridges in c-Myc-hTERT complex and Arg-63 and Glu-209 showed salt bridges in STAT3-hTERT complex. Thus, the interaction profiles of c-Myc-hTERT complex and STAT3-hTERT complex is identified as important for the future design of artificial activators of hTERT, or to classify the peptides or monoclonal antibodies of hTERT as activator or not-activator of hTERT by different machine learning models on the basis of evaluation by these binding patterns.

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

#### **Chapter 1**

#### 1. Introduction

#### **1.1 The aging process**

The beginning of aging occurred some 3.5 billion years ago, at the time that life on Earth first emerged. Because of aging's function as a risk factor in public health, the prevalence of several human diseases, including Alzheimer's disease, various forms of cancer, and metabolic disease/type II diabetes, has risen dramatically among the elderly. In order to meet the rising healthcare needs of an aging population, it is crucial to gain insight into the cellular and molecular mechanisms that decline with age and lead to increased disease susceptibility and frailty. The average life expectancy at birth in industrialized nations is quickly approaching plateau values as the aging changes associated with disease and the environment reach irreversible levels. In industrialized nations, where the average birth age is higher, the inborn aging process is the primary risk factor for disease and mortality beyond the age of roughly 28. As an approximate measure of the healthy, productive life-span, i.e. the functional life-span, these nations can only hope to increase their average life expectancy in the future by slowing the rate at which their populations are aging as a whole. [1]. Increased vulnerability to illness and mortality is one of the consequences of aging, which is the gradual accumulation over time of changes associated with or responsible for aging. There has been a lot of guesswork done on what exactly causes aging [2]. At now, there is great curiosity over the complex cause of the aging process in humans and animals, which has spawned various ideas. Although its origins are murky, aging has become the most pressing issue for doctors worldwide. The "old-age boom" predicted for the early 21st century has doctors extremely worried about age-related physiologic decline and age-associated illnesses. The successes of biomedical science in the 20th century have allowed more people to get close to the maximum human lifetime [3].

The buildup of variations that cause the sequence of changes that occur with increasing age and the concomitant, cumulative rises in the risk of illness and demise is what we call aging. The causes of aging have been the subject of several explanations. As research moves toward an agreement on the cause(s) of the aging process, it is imperative

that aging theories be studied for practical methods of enhancing the functional lifespan. While efforts to extend healthy life expectancy through traditional means have essentially reached an impasse, research into antiaging therapies has only begun [1]. Damage to cells and tissues from aging accumulates over time, reducing their ability to perform their functions and increasing the risk of mortality. Changes in old age can be traced back to a wide variety of sources, including development, genetic flaws, the environment, disease, and the aging process itself. Bettering people's standard of life reduces their risk of premature mortality [4].

#### **1.2 Causes of aging**

There are several causes of aging as shown in the **figure1.1**, like oxidative stress [5], telomere shortening [6], side reactions, glycation [7], aggregation of proteins [8], mutations [9] etc. However, telomere shortening is one of the primary causes of aging.



Figure 1.1. Causes of Aging are depicted in the figure that are stem cell exhaustion, genomic in stability, mitochondrial dysfunction, cellular senescence, altered intracellular communication, telomeres attrition, epigenetic alterations, deregulated nutrient sensing and loss of proteostasis.

In the 3D spatial structure of the nuclear genome, telomeres (the TTAGGG repeating DNA at the ends of linear chromosomes) play a role. In addition, certain patterns of controlled gene expression are set up via long-range 3D chromatin interactions. Dynamic nucleoprotein complexes called telomeres cap off each chromosome in a linear chromosome. They protect chromosome ends from being degraded, initiating a DNA damage response, fusing with other chromosomes, and being unstable [10]. Shelterin is a multi-protein complex found in telomeres that is accountable for protecting the G-rich nucleotide (TTAGGG) repeats at the end of chromosomes [11]. Interactions between telomere shelterin proteins and interstitial telomeric sequences (ITS) are a relatively recent area of research into the role that 3D telomere looping plays in cellular aging and genome stability.

#### **1.4 Shelterin proteins**

Six proteins work together to form shelterin: protection of telomere protein 1 (POT1), TRF1-interacting protein 2 (TIN2), repressor/activator protein 1 (RAP1), TIN2and POT1-interacting protein (TPP1), telomeric repeat binding factors 1 and 2 (TRF1 and TRF2) [12]. POT1 binds to the telomeric DNA that is single-stranded [12] as shown in **figure 1.2**. Whereas TRF1 and TRF2 are linked to the telomeric DNA with double strands. The telomere replication factor 1 (TRF 1) is responsible for preventing telomere fusions and promoting telomeric replication [13]. TRF2 is essential for telomere maintenance and formation of higher telomeric structures such T-loops [14]. The shelterin protein TIN2 is essential to the shelterin complex because it binds both TRF1 and TRF2 at once and maintains the complex's structural integrity [15]. Telomere single-stranded tract protection is a joint effort between the protein POT1, which has a direct interaction with TPP1 protein, and TPP1 [16]. TRF2-interacting protein (RAP1) is a stabilizing protein that binds to and regulates the activity of TRF2 [17]. The shelterin complex has two crucial roles, one of which is to prevent the DNA damage machinery from recognizing chromosome ends, and the other is to recruit telomerase [11].



Figure 1.2. Six proteins making a shelterin complex along with the telomerase complex.

#### **1.5 Telomerase**

Telomerase, also known as telomere terminal transferase [5], is an enzyme that replicates the TTAGGG sequence at the end of chromosomes from an RNA template. The evidence for this is extensive [10]. A telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) protein and a telomerase RNA component (TERC) are the two main parts of telomerase. It wasn't until 1997 [16] that TERT, the catalytic component of the enzyme, was found. This was despite the fact that telomerase activity in extracts from the ciliate Tetrahymena had been reported by Greider and Blackburn in 1985 [18]. For telomerase biogenesis and localization activity, other proteins are needed, such as dyskerins, TCAB1, NHP2, NOP10, and GAR1 [19]. Telomere length reduces as we age. Telomere shortening causes apoptosis, senescence or neoplastic transformation of somatic cells, compromising an individual's lifespan and health. Shorter telomeres have been connected with higher prevalence of illnesses and poor survival [6]. In order to prevent telomere shortening caused by cell division, telomerase adds a G-rich nucleotide sequence (TTAGGG) to telomeres [20]. There are many steps involved in telomere replication, including binding, polymerization, and translocation. First, telomerase attaches to the 3' overhang of the telomere by an interaction between TPP1 and telomerase RNA, or TERT. In the second stage of telomere replication, polymerization or telomere stretching occurs all the way to

the 5' terminus of the DNA template. Once the telomere repeat has been fully elongated, telomerase can be repositioned to begin synthesis of a new telomere repeat sequence [21]. In adults, the telomerase gene is only expressed in highly dividing cells including germ cells, hematopoietic stem cells, and progenitor/stem cells [22]. To prevent excessive telomere shortening and promote ESC (embryonic stem cells) self-renewal, telomerase activity is also rather strong in ESC [23]. Immortalized cells and many tumor cells also have elevated levels of telomerase [24]. The fact that telomeres get shorter as we get older is widely recognized [23], since the quantity of telomerase activity is insufficient to counteract the constant regeneration in adult stem cells [25]. Telomerase and its activity can be controlled in cells by transcriptional regulation of TERT, alternative splicing variants of TERT, sex and growth hormone-like proteins found in telomeres and associated with the telomerase complex, androgen and estrogen, and other factors involved in phosphorylating and assembling telomerase or transporting its subunits [26]. TERT regulates telomerase activity in a number of ways, including alternative splicing, indirect and direct regulation of gene expression, posttranslational modification and protein tertiary folding [27]. Important elements in telomerase function include alternative splicing variations; for example, many cells contain distinct TERT variants from one another, which permits a wide range of cellular ages [28]. Phosphorylation of tyrosine or threonine/serine amino acids in a defined area of the catalytic subunit of TERT [27] is the mechanism by which telomerase is altered post-translationally [29]. Increased telomerase activity is linked to the interaction relationship between TPP1 and the TEN (Telomerase N-terminal) domain of TERT [28], further supporting the hypothesis that shelterin proteins play a significant role in telomerase action [30]. The p23 and hsp90 chaperone proteins, which are linked to efficient telomerase holoenzyme assembly, are also essential for telomerase activity [31]. Intracellular trafficking to the nuclear Cajal bodies, where the telomerase holoenzyme is assembled and/or matured, is another way by which telomerase activity is regulated [32]. The short sequence motif of TERC called the CAB box must be associated with TCAB1 in order for TERC to accumulate in Cajal bodies [33]. Cajal bodies and telomeres have been shown to coexist throughout the S phase of the cell cycle once the telomerase enzyme becomes active [34]. Unlike hTERT, which is only expressed in certain tissues, hTERC is expressed

everywhere. It serves as a template for the production of telomeric DNA. Some researchers have thus argued that it is not a limiting element in telomerase activity but hTERT is the main factor regarding telomeres lengthening [35, 36].

#### **1.6 Telomeres shortening**

Interstitial telomere loops (ITL) are generated by telomeres, and these loops interact with the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) to help control gene expression in a wide variety of genomic locations. In humans, laminopathies and telomeropathies frequently have short telomeres as a defining characteristic. It is possible that ITLs can vary and play functional roles in both normal and pathological processes. This is due to the fact that telomeres shorten in dividing somatic cells as a result of higher turnover and chronological age. Following reproduction, telomeres undergo a process of shortening and contribute less to the integrity of the nuclear genome. This can result in age-related disorders [37].

#### **1.7 The hayflick limit**

The deficiency of telomerase activity in human somatic cells causes telomere shortening with every cell division, leading to telomere malfunction and aging [38]. When telomeres shorten to an irreversible degree, cells have a biological reaction that prevents further cell division, leading to either or programmed cell death or senescence. The Hayflick limit was discovered to be the threshold at which cell proliferation stops being efficient [39]. In 1961, researchers Leonard Hayflick and Paul Sidney Moorhead found that human fetal fibroblasts grown in a lab had a limited ability to divide [40]. Hayflick proposed in 1965 that there were three stages in a cell's existence. His research shows that normal cell division starts in first stage, but subsequently slows down in the second stage. Stage 3 is the final stage before senescence sets in and cell division ceases [39]. Investigating the Hayflick limit aids in the study of cellular aging and the development of strategies to delay or halt the senescence of individual cells. DNA polymerase, which replicates linear DNA, was discovered to cause the loss of chromosomal terminal sequences (telomeres) in the early 1970s. Because of a delay in strand synthesis, DNA polymerase is unable to replicate the 3' end of linear DNA, a phenomenon known as the end-replication issue [41]. Telomerase and the shelterin

complex of the telomere help with this end-replication issue [42]. Eventually, as a result of the end-replication issue, telomeres shrink in human cells as we age [43].

#### **1.8 Telomeres shortening and aging**

Age-related disorders can be triggered by telomere shortening alone [42, 43]. These diseases include cardiovascular disease, liver cirrhosis, atherosclerosis [44], diabetes [45], infectious diseases, and Alzheimer's disease [46]. In addition to being linked to conditions like premature aging and bone marrow failure, telomere attrition has also been linked to human chronic disorders like hypertension [47]. Telomere shortening has been connected to aging and cellular senescence [43] and Human somatic cells' telomeres get more short as we age because telomerase activity declines, according to research. Studies in mice lacking telomerase (mTERC/) show that cell cycle halt and apoptosis result from telomere shortening that occurs between generations [48]. Hematopoietic cells, germ cells, embryonic stem cells and epithelial cells including liver, spleen and skin with extremely reformative/regenerative properties all express and contain telomerase at high levels [49-51]. To lower the danger of cancer, telomerase is inhibited in many somatic cells [52], which provides the evidence of its functions regarding cell proliferation. Human cells require telomerase activity for cellular immortalization, and it may be necessary for normal cells to be converted into cancer cells [24]. Cancer cells undergo transformation through telomerase activity and the concomitant deactivation of tumor suppressor genes or activation of oncogenes [53]. Inhibiting telomerase activity in cancer cells slows tumor development and promotes apoptosis [54]. To put it simply, oxidative stress brought on by reactive oxygen species (ROS) is to blame for both the initiation and the upkeep of senescence in cells. Multiple studies have shown that reactive oxygen species (ROS) may hasten telomere shortening in vitro and in vivo and can also directly harm DNA, particularly the structure of telomere [55-57].

#### **1.9 Antiaging or age reversing**

A growing body of evidence suggests that treating the aging process itself, rather than treating particular illnesses or symptoms of aging, could be one of the ways to go. This is inspiring research with the ultimate goal of bringing to market treatments that delay the aging process itself. There are several treatment techniques that can be brought to market much more quickly since they do not need FDA clearance. These include direct-to-consumer nutraceuticals and scientific diets that have undergone clinical trials. Nontraditional medicines, including blood-based therapy, are also being tested in an effort to delay the aging process. Using big data methods, researchers are attempting to create models of successful aging. Methods are increasingly being derived from findings on aging in model organisms. Death and medical expenses are primarily attributable to age-related illnesses. Slowing down the aging process would have significant health and economic implications. Companies specializing in antiaging treatments have sprung up in response to the discovery that several genes and pathways control aging in model organisms. Methods might include everything from drug development initiatives to big data approaches to DTC initiatives. Reliance on data from short-lived model species, a lack of biological knowledge of aging, and the difficulty of conducting clinical trials for aging all pose problems for commercialization. There are many possible therapies and targets related to aging, but only a tiny proportion can be studied for therapeutic applications because to the lengthy validation requirements. In any case, if even a single business succeeds, the results will be far-reaching [58].

As people age, the incidence of age-related disorders increases. Conditions associated with aging are now among the top triggers of mortality and disability everywhere in the globe. For this reason, it is of the utmost importance to discover effective therapies that can slow down the aging process and delay or prevent the onset of devastating age-related disorders. Enhancing autophagy, getting rid of senescent cells, transfusing plasma from young blood, intermittent fasting, boosting adult neurogenesis, working out, eating right, taking antioxidant supplements, and using stem cells are just few of the numerous antiaging methods now under investigation. To maintain normal health during aging and to delay age-related neurodegenerative illnesses like Alzheimer's, several pre-clinical research show that injection of autophagy enhancers, senolytic medicines, plasma from young blood, medications that boost neurogenesis, and BDNF are potential options. The brains of the elderly and those with Alzheimer's disease have also showed promise for the potential of stem cell treatment to promote regeneration and restore lost function. The long-term effectiveness and safety of some of these methods is still up for debate and will be determined through clinical trials. However, non-invasive methods that appears to have low adverse effects, including as intermittent fasting, physical activity, and the use of antioxidants like resveratrol and curcumin, have showed tremendous promise for increasing function in aging. To conclude, various strategies are on the cutting edge of becoming standard therapy for slowing the aging process and delaying the onset of age-related disorders in the near future [59].

#### **1.10 Telomerase (hTERT) activation and antiaging**

The length of telomeres is a biomarker of cellular age and declines with age, making it a risk factor for age-related disorders. The pace of telomere shortening, which can be restored by telomerase, is influenced by environmental variables including nutrition and lifestyle. Natural molecule stimulation of telomerase has been proposed as a potential anti-aging modulator useful in the treatment of age-related disorders [60]. Because of its capacity to lengthen telomeres, the natural chromosomal endings that would else experience increasing attrition and finally threaten cell sustainability, telomerase endows most human cells with an infinite proliferative potential [61]. In contrast to its activation during development and neoplasia, telomerase is inhibited in normal human somatic cells. Telomerase is a specialized RNA-directed DNA polymerase that extends the telomeres of eukaryotic chromosomes. Repression of telomerase allows for the sequential shortening of telomeres in a chromosomal replication-dependent manner, whereas activation is implicated in the immortalization of neoplastic cells. For cells, the unidirectional catabolism of telomeres during the cell cycle serves as a means of keeping track of the amount of DNA they've lost and the number of times they've divided; when telomeres reach a critical shortness, cells cease replicating their chromosomes and enter cellular senescence. Forced production of the enzyme in senescent human cells increases their life span to one characteristic of youthful cells, whereas inhibition of telomerase has been found to limit the proliferation of cancer cells in vitro. Mechanisms by which telomerase is repressed in normal cells and activated in

neoplastic cells, as well as the signaling pathways between telomeres and these two cell types, remain to be determined. Thus, the ability to activate or deactivate telomerase may have significant therapeutic applications in the fight against aging and cancer both. Extensive research has revealed that post-translational protein-protein interactions, telomerase gene expression and protein phosphorylation all play important roles in mammalian cell telomerase control [62].

The increased probability of contracting a disease or passing away is a consequence of the time-dependent anatomical and physiological changes associated with the aging process [63]. Individuals and their cells begin to age soon upon birth and speed up as time goes on. After the embryonic stage, most human somatic cells have an inactive version of the telomerase gene, and telomere shortening is thought to occur naturally with age [64]. Since telomerase-expressing cells may keep their youthful state and continue to proliferate indefinitely [72], they have been considered a possible target for "antiaging" therapies [65]. Immortalized cells were once assumed to be a key component in the repair and replacement of worn out or diseased organs and tissues associated with aging. This therapy entails isolating cells from a patient with short telomeres and then increasing telomere length by expressing and activating TERT in those cells. Cells would be cultured, multiplied, and transplanted in place of failing or old organs and tissues [66]. Telomerase gene therapy may be useful in cases of decreased organ regeneration due to telomerase shortening, as shown in experiments with telomerase-deficient animals [67]. Increased telomerase expression achieved by telomerase gene therapy has been shown to reverse aplastic anemia characteristics in a mouse model without increasing cancer risk [68]. Using cell treatment to delay cell senescence is made clearer by the immortalization of cells via TERT concept. Traditional gene therapy uses TERT-modified cells for optimization of stem cell transplantation in vitro, the treatment of malignancies such as hepatocellular carcinoma, tissue engineering (including the formation of new blood vessels), and the treatment of chronic disorders such as atherosclerosis [69-71]. TERT is used to immortalize and increase the life span of several different types of human cells, including retinal-pigmented epithelial cells, dermal fibroblasts, keratinocytes, muscle cells, bone marrow stromal cells, endothelium cells, osteoblasts, odontoblasts,

22

and corneal epithelial cells [72-76]. Researchers have shown that transfecting telomerase-negative normal human cells with vectors encoding to TERT causes them to produce telomerase and shows a decrease in replicative senescence [65]. This includes retinal pigment epithelium cells. Several drugs, including histone deacetylase inhibitors and estrogen receptor agonists, can counteract the transcriptional downregulation of telomerase that occurs without transfection of the TERT gene [77]. In addition, telomerase, which locates in the nucleus and cytoplasm of cells, can be kept in those places by a protective mechanism by intracellular localization of telomerase and this can be considered as an age reversing therapy [78]. Because androgens can stimulate transcription of TERT, androgen therapy is utilized to treat aplastic anemia [79]. Danazol, a synthetic androgen, has been demonstrated to lengthen telomeres in leukocytes when used to treat telomerepathic individuals [80]. It has been shown that telomerase's classical role in elongating telomeres is substantially responsible for its antiaging activity. This avoids the buildup of dangerously short telomeres and loss of tissue homeostasis. This is comparable to the scenario in the socalled 'human telomere syndromes, in which telomere shortening in the setting of adult stem cell compartments causes significant impairment of stem cell mobilization and, ultimately, a deficiency in the ability to regenerate tissues. Therefore, cellular senescence or apoptosis refereed by the p53 pathway is triggered when short and/or unprotected chromosomal ends are detected as persistent and/or non-repairable DNA breaks [81].

Telomerase-deficient (Terc/) mice provide more evidence for telomerase's significance in tissue regeneration and organismal life span [82]. Increasing generations of telomerase-deficient mice interbred together shortens their lifespan [83], an impact that is evident in the first generation of mice without Terc, in which both the median and maximum life span are lowered [84]. Lastly, overexpressing telomerase is enough to increase the longevity of most cultured human cells [65]. Cumulatively, the data lends credence to the idea that mammalian life duration is limited by telomerase activity and telomere length, and to the idea that short telomeres actively contribute to aging by reducing the pace at which new tissues may form with age. One of the key predictions of this model is that reducing the rate of telomere shortening will extend lifespan. However,

telomere biology in cancer must be considered if this hypothesis is to be tested experimentally [61].

Joan S. Sonneborn's work shows that tissue deterioration may be reversed in elderly mice, providing the evidence for the potential for therapeutic TERT intervention in aging [85]. Examples of telomerase advantages arise in immunology [86], cardiology [87], chemotherapy-induced damage [88] and neurology [89, 90]. Cancer telomerase activity can be regulated by epigenetics [91] and TERT RNA splice variants [92]. Recently found telomerase cancer cell targeting permits eradication of cancer cells without downregulation of telomerase's beneficial effects in age-related disorders [93, 94]. Multiple disorders may benefit from the use of the TERT peptide GV1001 as an intervention medication, according to recent research [95].

#### **1.11 Problem statement**

Insufficient hTERT activity causes telomere shortening and cellular aging. Shortening of telomeres has negative effects on health and longevity by triggering apoptosis, cellular senescence and neoplastic transformation in somatic cells. That's why an enhanced but normal boost in hTERT and p53 activity is necessary to slow down or even reverse the aging process in cells.

#### **1.12 Objectives**

Objectives of this research are following:

- 1. To perform dynamic simulation of hTERT and p53 pathway to determine the concentration gradient of hTERT and p53 for the modulation of telomeres and for the regulation of normal proliferation/apoptosis in normal human cell.
- 2. To elucidate the interaction profile of positive regulators of hTERT and p53 for the design of new biological/chemical entities against age reversal process.
- 3. Co-targeting of hTERT and p53 by drug like entities for the telomeres mediated age reversing process.

# CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **Chapter 2**

#### 2. Literature Review

#### 2.1 Influence of aging

The mortality rate of a population at a specific age is a reasonable proxy for two things: (1) the average number of ageing changes and (2) physiologic age, or "actual age" ALE-B is based on a population's mortality rates. ALE-B estimates functional lifespan [4].

#### 2.2 Structure and function of hTERT

In biology, ribonucleoprotein (RNP) complexes like telomerase are very important. The RNA part of telomerase, called hTR, acts as a template for making telomeric DNA and is at the centre of the enzyme's catalytic core [96]. Also, hTR binds to dyskerin to make sure holoenzyme is stable and to TCAB1 to help telomerase mature and move to Cajal bodies [34, 97]. Figure 2.1 shows how the 1132 amino acids that make up the hTERT gene are put together. The hTERT protein has four domains: the telomerase N-terminal (TEN) domain, the telomerase RNA-binding (TRBD) domain, the reverse transcriptase (RT) domain, and the C-terminal extension (CTE). hTERT uses its TRBD- and RT-domains to bind hTR and put the hTR template in the RT-domain active site. This is how telomeric repeats are made [96]. The TEN-domain is involved in the catalysis of telomeric repeat addition [98]. The TEN-domain and CTE both have DAT (dissociates activity of telomerase) areas, with the former containing N-DAT and the latter C-DAT [99, 100]. Mutations in either DAT-region of telomerase stop immortalization but don't change the enzyme's ability to do its job [100]. Based on research with N-DAT mutations, it is thought that the TEN-domain brings telomerase to telomeres [101].



Figure 2.1. 3D Structure of hTERT comprised of 1132 residues and four domains visualized by MOE.

Telomeres are nucleo-protein complexes that safeguard the ends of chromosomes in eukaryotic cells. Muller and Meier determined the formation of telomeres in 1938. The DNA located at the ends of chromosomes is referred to as telomeric DNA. It consists of a 5 to 20 kb-long repeating pattern of the six nucleotides TTAGGG [10, 102, 103]. A telomeric loop (T-loop) that offers 3'end protection is formed by a series of telomeric DNA repeats and a terminal 3'G-rich single-stranded overhang [104, 105]. The shelterin protein complex and telomeric DNA act in tandem to preserve the integrity of the genome and chromosomes by preventing unneeded recombination, nucleolytic degradation and inter-chromosomal fusions[104, 106, 107]. Using shelterin protective caps, DNA damage repair (DDR) machinery can distinguish between genomic DNA damage and telomeric DNA [14, 108]. The "end-replication problem," age, oxidative damage and lifestyle (including stress, smoking, diet, work environment) shorten telomeric DNA after each replicative cycle throughout the lifetime of the cell [6, 109, 110]. When the telomeres of a cell get too short, the cell enters a dormant condition. This stage (M1) marks the beginning of DNA damage signaling and cellular senescence. Together, they provide a crucial defensive mechanism that prevents a cell from becoming cancerous [107, 111]. However, there are situations where cells go beyond this senescence stage, entering a crisis state (M2) [111], bypassing crucial cell cycle checkpoints supplied by TP53, p16INK4a and Rb. Short telomeres and chromosome end fusion cause genomic instability, cell apoptosis, and ultimately cell death [111]. However, malignant transformation can be facilitated when cells gain the ability to divide indefinitely. Telomerase is responsible for sustaining or lengthening telomeres, a mechanism that promotes cellular immortalization [111-113]. Telomerase, an enzyme that may lengthen telomeric repeat sequences, was initially identified in 1985 [18, 114]. In 1989, telomerase activity was first demonstrated. It took almost a decade following telomerase's discovery for the protein component to be isolated and described for its function [115]. To progressively synthesize telomeric DNA repeats, this enzyme uses a huge ribonucleoprotein complex. The DNA polymerase telomerase is composed of two subunits: the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT), which is a catalytic protein subunit encoded by the TERT gene on chromosome 5p15.33, and the human telomerase RNA component (hTERC or hTR), which is an RNA component encoded by the TERC gene on chromosome 3q26 [116-118]. Additional proteins, including as Reptin, Nhp2, Gar1, Potin, and Tcab1 were shown to be linked with the telomerase core complex and necessary for effective telomerase assemblage and employment to chromosomes [119, 120]. When combined with telomerase protein component (TEP1), dyskerin plays a crucial function in upholding the reliability of the telomerase complex [19, 121]. The telomerase enzymatic complex also includes the protein subunits (Ku heterodimer) Es1p and Es3p, which are important in assembly and maturation [122]. Human telomerase's three-dimensional structure has not been fully elucidated despite intensive study [123]. And, critically, only hTERC and hTERT are required for the restoration of telomerase activity [124-126]. Telomerase activity is strongly correlated with the amount of hTERT mRNA expressed, suggesting that hTERT is the major determinant of telomerase activity. According to the available data, the expression of hTERT is strictly controlled at the transcriptional level, making it the limiting factor in telomerase activity [65, 127-129]. Strong correlation between telomerase activity and hTERT expression has been shown in experimental settings [123].

Some model animals, including as chicken [130], zebrafish [131], dog [132] and pig [133], are used to investigate the role of telomerase and telomeres in the body. In maize, telomeres were found to be responsible for maintaining chromosomal integrity and genomic stability [134]. However, because mice are so comparable to humans in terms of telomere metabolism [135, 136], research conducted with mouse models have shown the most potential. Numerous analyses have shown that the biological responses to telomere disruption are essentially similar in both species. Somatic cell telomere length is thought to be closely related to telomerase control, which in turn may play a critical role in regulating normal metabolism, ageing, and cancer. Interesting, telomeres in mice are far longer than those in humans (25–40 vs. 10–15 kb, respectively). No visible changes are made to the fact that our lifetime is around a third that of humans. Without a doubt, the telomerase-deficient mouse model is invaluable for studying the effects of telomere dysfunction, such as aging, genomic instability, and cancer in mammals. Especially since telomere failure triggers the same molecular consequences in both species [135], including the p53 pathway being activated.

Human fibroblasts and lymphocytes undergo telomere shortening at a rate of about 50-100 base pairs (bp) per cell division in in vitro investigations [43, 137], which is quite close to a mouse model. The telomeric sequence is also the same, i.e., TTAGGG (n). Mouse Tert (mTert, mouse telomerase reverse transcriptase) telomerase activity and gene expression appear to be less strictly controlled in murine somatic cells compared to human somatic cells [135]. Since the expression of these subunits corresponds favorably with the distribution of telomerase activity in different cells [135, 138], it can be inferred that hTERT and mTert expression are the major determinants of telomerase activity.

#### 2.3 Structure and function of p53

Depending on the type of cell and its environment, p53 is a very effective growth inhibitor that can stop the cell cycle or cause apoptotic cell death [139]. The p53 protein is a stress-inducible transcription factor that controls several genes involved in cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, differentiation, and even angiogenesis prevention. Approximately 50% of adult cancers have inactivated p53 (through mutation or deletion), whereas the remaining 50% have decreased wild type p53 activity. Thus, activation of the p53 pathway is viewed as a potentially interesting therapeutic method in the treatment of human tumors [140].

Normal cell division and tumor suppression need p53 activity regulation. p53 must be suppressed to allow normal growth and development while being activated in response to tumorigenesis-related stress. Several ways control p53. Although control of p53 transcription and translation has been identified, the key mechanisms influencing p53 function include control of p53 protein localization, regulation of p53 protein levels, and modulation of p53 activity, notably as a sequence-specific transcription factor. Post-translational modifications alter p53 [141] and cooperates with a variety of other cell proteins [142].

Trans activation domain, oligomerization domain, DNA-binding domain, prolinerich domain, and basic regulatory region are structural domains of transcription factors found in the 393-amino-acid p53 protein [143, 144] as shown in the **figure 2.2.** The Nterminal trans-activating domain (residues 1–62) is the part of the protein that interacts with other proteins. These proteins include basal transcription factors and regulatory proteins like MDM2, as well as co-activators acetyltransferases p300 and CBP [145-148]. The protein's N-terminal region also has a proline-rich domain, which spans residues 63 to 94 and contains five SH3-domain binding motifs. This domain may be found in the Nterminal region. This domain is very necessary for the p53-induced apoptosis that takes place when there is DNA damage [149]. The C-terminal section contains residues 325– 356 that make up the oligomerization domain. This domain allows four monomers of p53 to form a homo-tetramer, which is necessary for the transcriptional activity of p53 [150, 151]. It is speculated that the essential regulatory region at the C-terminus, which spans residues 357 to 393, is responsible for p53's sequence-specific binding [152, 153]. Finally, the core or central DNA-binding domain (residues 94-292) helps with the binding to sequence-specific double-stranded DNA and has a DNA binding surface that is formed of a central-sheet and two large loops (L2 and L3) that are stabilized by a zinc ion. This domain is located in the middle of the protein [154, 155]. The stability of the p53 protein is controlled by its central domain, and there is evidence that p53 has evolved to be minimally stable at physiological temperatures. This is supported by the fact that p53 has a melting point of 44 degrees Celsius and a half-life of nine minutes, both of which are lower than those of its paralogs p63 and p73 [156, 157].



Figure 2.2. General 3D structure of p53 having 393 amino acid residues and contains transcription factor structural domain.

#### 2.3 hTERT regulation and activation:

Telomerase activity is strongly correlated with the amount of hTERT mRNA expressed, suggesting that hTERT is the major determinant of telomerase activity. According to the available data, the expression of hTERT is strictly controlled at the transcriptional level, making it the limiting factor in telomerase activity [65, 127-129]. Strong correlation between telomerase activity and hTERT expression has been shown in experimental settings [123].

Both posttranscriptional and transcriptional processes are involved in hTERT regulation, which is a complex process that has yet to be fully elucidated [35]. Among them is hTERT pre-mRNA alternative splicing, which has been linked to diagnostic, prognostic, and clinical cancer characteristics [92, 158, 159] and is implicated in the control of telomerase activity. Germline, hematopoietic, stem, and rapidly renewing cells all have telomerase turned on permanently [49, 160]. In contrast, somatic cells have negligible or no telomerase activity mostly because of strict hTERT control [161]. Telomerase activity was found in the endometrial tissue (during the menstrual cycle), proliferative basal skin layer, hair follicles and the proliferative zone of intestinal crypts, but not in normal human blood cells [49, 160, 162, 163].

Although telomeres shorten gradually as cells approach replicative senescence [164], it is only during a crisis that they reach lengths at which they can no longer protect chromosomal ends [165]. Cells that are able to make it through a crisis are usually aneuploidy, suggesting that karyotype instability and fusions are more common at this time [166]. Although it has been hypothesized that telomere shortening causes both replicative senescence and crisis [167], it has also been recommended that replicative senescence is triggered by alterations in telomere status rather than telomere length [168, 169]. Given that most of this single-stranded overhang is lost in senescent human cells, the shape of the telomeric 3' overhang reflects this changed condition [170, 171]. This means that although it is evident that telomere length, telomere shape, and telomerase all impact replicative lifetime in human cells, the interactions between these factors remain mostly correlative.

Changes in telomerase activity are temporally related with the expression of hTERT mRNA that occurs during cellular differentiation [172-174] and neoplasia [175], recent studies have shown that ectopic expression of hTERT is sufficient to restore telomerase activity in telomerase-negative cell lines, such as foreskin fibroblasts, mammary epithelial cells, retinal pigment epithelial cells, and umbilical endothelial cells, which supports the essential role that hTERT plays [65, 125, 176-178]. Other types of cell lines that do not have telomerase include retinal pigment epithelial cells. Although deactivation of the RB/p16 pathway is also required for hTERT-mediated

immortalization of keratinocytes and mammary epithelial cells, the correlation between hTERT expression and cellular immortalization has been well investigated and documented. This is the case despite the fact that the RB/p16 pathway must be deactivated. The combination of these theories and findings establishes the expression of hTERT as the bottleneck of telomerase activity, which propels the investigation of hTERT gene expression to the forefront of the research on telomerase regulation [179]. Conversely, there is a positive association between the length of the telomeres and lifespan [180]. Therefore, techniques that aim to increase telomerase activity in order to lengthen telomeres are considered crucial for fighting aging [61]. Multiple investigations in mice and rats shown that telomerase activity might reverse the aging process [136]. Mice with overexpressed TERT in many organs lived an additional 10% of their normal lifetime compared to wild-type mice in a single study, This resulted from the telomerase activation that occurred as a result of this treatment [181]. Increased expression of TERT in mice that were resistant to cancer was associated with a 40% increase in lifespan [61]. Adenovirus-mediated reactivation of telomerase can result in a 24% increase in lifespan [136]. In telomerase-deficient animals, reactivating telomerase causes telomere extension, reversal of degenerative phenotypes in gut, newborn neurons, testes, neural progenitors, spleen, and oligodendrocytes and decreased DNA damage signaling and associated cellular checkpoint responses [85]. TERT expression improves wound healing and keratinocyte proliferation in the bovine keratin 5 mouse model, compared to wildtype mice [182]. Protecting cells from apoptosis, telomerase encourages cell survival. By increasing hypertrophy and prolonging the life of myocytes in heart, TERT expression can delay the exit of cell cycle [56]. On the other hand, the expression of TERT is shown to inhibit the shortening of telomeres in neural cells [183]. TERT has also shown promising results when used to the central nervous system as a therapeutic target [183].

Positive transcriptional regulators can also enhance TERT expression via direct and indirect interactions with the promoter region. Direct-acting positive regulators include human N-acetyltransferase-like protein (hALP), transcriptional elements interacting factor (TEIF), signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), onco-proteins Ews-ETS, hypoxia inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF1 $\alpha$ ), and c-Jun [184]. Examples of indirect activators include the c-Myc oncogene, the apoptosis inhibitor survivin, and the viral oncogene E6/NFX1. Survivin operates via SP1/c-Myc binding, and the oncogene c-Myc stimulates TERT expression by building a complex with max (c-Myc/Max) and binding to the E-box region. While p53 is degraded, c-Myc is activated, and upstream stimulatory factor (USF) based repression is broken by the viral oncogene E6/NFX1 [185-187], TERT expression is induced [188].

#### 2.4 Signaling pathway of hTERT and aging

#### 2.4.1 c-Myc

There was a correlation between c-Myc oncogene expression and telomerase activity prior to the identification of the hTERT promoter region, as shown in figure 2.3 [189] was utilized to boost telomerase expression in human mammary epithelial cells, which are normally telomerase negative, to levels comparable to breast cancer cell lines. This was accomplished by introducing a c-Myc oncoprotein into the cells. Following transfection with the c-Myc vector, the amount of hTERT mRNA found in these cells was shown to have grown by a factor of 50 as determined by Northern blotting [189]. After characterizing the hTERT promoter region, c-Myc binding sites were discovered, enabling for additional investigation into the putative processes at work in this regulation [116, 190-192]. This c-Myc/Max dimer can recognise and bind to the 5'-CACGTG-3' Ebox consensus sequence [193, 194]. Because a similar sequence, 5'-CA(C/T)GCG-3', also binds c-Myc/Max heterodimers, there is additional potential for regulation via binding at these non-canonical positions [193]. There are 29 putative c-Myc complex binding sites in the hTERT gene region, 18 of which are canonical [193]. Two E-boxes (5'-CACGTG-3') in the midst of the hTERT minimal promoter have received special attention [190, 191, 195]. Gene reporter assays utilizing the luciferase gene and mobility shift tests indicate that c-Myc directly activates hTERT at these E-boxes [189-191, 193, 195]. Studies showing that c-Myc-induced hTERT elevation occurs without extra protein synthesis lend support to the concept that c-Myc directly activates hTERT [195].

Whether or not both of these E-boxes are required for the hTERT promoter to operate correctly has been the subject of considerable controversy. When the proximal E-box (at position -34) was deleted, the promoter activity was lowered by a factor of ten, attaining the same expression levels as promoter-free constructs [195]. Together, these results and the observation that the distal E-box is not preserved in the mouse TERT
promoter point to the proximal E-box [195] as the primary mediator of c-Myc's capacity to up regulate hTERT. Results from luciferase tests showed, however, that activity was drastically reduced in all cell types when the distal E-box (at position 242) was deleted or abolished [190, 191, 194]. These contradictory findings might point to a synergistic system in which the presence of c-Myc in both the distal and proximal E-boxes is necessary for full hTERT promoter activity.

#### 2.4.2 Sp1

It has been observed that Sp1 can cooperate with c-Myc [194]. A two to seven fold increase in hTERT transcription is induced by co-transfection of a c-Myc or c-Myc/Max expression vector with a Sp1 expression vector [194]. Further investigation without Sp1 showed only partial activation, indicating that c-Myc requires Sp1 for complete activity [194]. Sp1 is usually believed to be a constitutively-expressed factor; yet, reports indicate that its expression can vary by as much as 100-fold amongst tissues [196]. These results raise the possibility that different amounts of endogenous Sp1 are responsible for c-Myc/cell Max's type-specific stimulation of hTERT expression [194]. Whether or not both of these E-boxes are required for the hTERT promoter to operate correctly has been the subject of considerable controversy. When the proximal E-box (at position -34) was deleted, the promoter activity was lowered by a factor of ten, attaining the same expression levels as promoter-free constructs [194]. The results for telomerase activity and hTERT expression were comparable. In addition, the levels of Sp1, Myc, and hTERT rise in a coordinated manner during SV-40-induced transformation of normal fibroblasts. Sp1 expression is substantially increased during cellular transformation, in contrast to Max protein expression, which is rather steady [194]. Sp1's involvement as a cooperative factor with c-Myc is extensively recognized, although the specific method by which it contributes to hTERT transcription remains elusive [190]. Furthermore, another research investigating estrogen's role as an activator of hTERT transcription have suggested that Sp1 may facilitate estrogen's activities in ovarian epithelial cells [197].

### 2.4.3 p53

The possible function of p53 in transcriptional control of hTERT was initially hypothesized based on data showing a negative correlation between p53 levels and telomerase activity, and it has now been confirmed. To determine if the absence of p53mediated hTERT repression has any effect [198] contributes to the activation of telomerase seen during transformation, the effects of p53 overexpression in SiHa cervical cancer cells were explored. Two p53 binding sites, at 1954 and 1317 bp upstream of the ATG, were shown to be significantly involved in the reported inhibition of hTERT transcription [198]. Of note, the effects of exogenous p53 expression on transcriptional repression occurred before the suppression of cell growth typically associated with p53 activity [198]. These results provide further evidence that p53 may suppress hTERT gene expression directly to regulate cell growth. Sp1, a transcription factor, is considered to perform a cooperative role in p53-based control of hTERT, similar to what has been reported for the regulation of hTERT by c-Myc and estrogen [198]. When their binding sites to Sp1 were altered, the repressive effects of p53 were completely abolished, revealing a total dependence on Sp1 [194]. Sp1's dual function in hTERT activity raises the prospect of a more complex scenario involving protein-protein interactions between Sp1 and other transcription factors [194, 198, 199]. To learn how widespread p53mediated regulation of hTERT is and to identify potential modes of action needing cooperation from Sp1, more research is needed.

#### 2.4.4 ROS

The catalytic subunit of telomerase is human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT), which is encoded by the tetrameric telomerase holoenzyme. Accumulating data suggests that hTERT is engaged in mechanisms outside telomere preservation and immortalization. hTERT overexpression reduces baseline ROS levels in cells and limits endogenous ROS generation in response to intracellular ROS triggers. In stressed cells, siRNA-mediated hTERT reduction boosted ROS production. ROS regulate hTERT in several ways. Changes to its expression, activity, location, and functions are among these [200-202]. It has also been shown that elevated ROS production encourages nuclear pore opening and subsequent hTERT export into the cytosol [203, 204].

Several other reports have also indicated that mitochondrial hTERT can considerably reduce levels of mitochondrial (and cellular) ROS [200, 205-209]. It has been shown that hTERT has the ability to reduce cellular redox potential and affect ROS-dependent signaling [210]. Since cells expressing WT hTERT had lower levels of mtROS, this finding suggests that autophagy activation might be mitigated by oxidative stress [211].



Figure 2.3. A knowledge driven biological regulatory network including different genes and proteins interacting positively or negatively with each other.

### 2.4.5 NFKB

A mechanism was explored that is mediated by ROS by which hTERT expression offers a survival advantage on cancer cells by attenuating apoptotic signals. As a result, cancer cells with naturally high hTERT levels would be resistant to chemotherapy treatments that employ ROS-mediated death pathways. In these instances, inhibiting hTERT or antioxidant defenses may render cancer cells more susceptible to treatment. NFkB, a crucial cellular transcription factor that interacts with ROS in a unique manner, is a plausible candidate for the mechanism through which hTERT regulates these antioxidant defenses. Multiple antioxidant components, such as MnSOD and -glutamylcysteine synthetase, the rate-limiting enzyme for GSH production, have been shown to be controlled by cellular redox status. [212-214]; NF $\kappa$ B has been shown to transcribe these factors and enhance the AP1's downstream target genes transcription that also includes sulfiredoxin [215, 216]. hTERT and NFkB have been shown to interact physically in a number of studies. Experiments were done to see if an active NF $\kappa$ B and p65 complex may function as a chaperone to help transport hTERT from the nucleus to the cytoplasm [217, 218]. Ectopic expression of hTERT enhances NF $\kappa$ B expression by more than 6fold, according to research by Sharma et al. [219]. These researchers also demonstrated that this took place in a way that did not include direct interaction with the promoter regions of NF $\kappa$ B [219]. The level of nuclear p65 was likewise much higher in HT1 cells than in Neo cells. Furthermore, MnSOD, a transcriptional target of NFkB, is expressed at much higher levels in HT1 cells. It's tempting to speculate that hTERT's tight nuclear association with the active NF $\kappa$ B complex influences NF $\kappa$ B's DNA binding affinity and, by extension, the transcription of NF $\kappa$ B -driven antioxidant genes. Based on this and other recent research, it is clear that novel therapeutic methods are required to address the specific functional consequence of increased hTERT expression. Although expression of hTERT is essential for telomere maintenance, it has far-reaching biological consequences [208]. Multiple transcriptional regulatory elements are present in the human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (hTERT). Increased hTERT transcription has been shown to be facilitated by a number of transcription factors [220-222] including c-Myc, Sp1, NFkB, and upstream stimulatory factors. Multiple cellular regulatory activities, including nuclear factor kappa B and hTERT, have been shown to govern cell proliferation [160, 223].

### 2.5 Existing strategies for antiaging

Antiaging science has immense potential because of the tight connection between aging and age-related disorders. Telomeres, which are protein-bound assemblies at the trimmings of chromosomes, have been shown to shrink during cell division and, in some tissues, with aging [224]. According to research, because human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) is not produced in human somatic cells, telomeres continually shorten and finally deplete with age. Activating telomerase may prove beneficial in the battle against age-related illnesses and as an antiaging strategy. hTERT, an antiaging supplement based on chemical telomerase activators, represents a new era in nutritional

antiaging research [225]. However, genetic modifications of telomerase in mice have yielded inconsistent findings [224, 226]. Overexpression of telomerase in adult mice increased median lifespan by 24% without increasing cancer incidence, according to one study. There is, however, a correlation between increased telomerase expression in mice and humans and a greater risk of developing cancer in both species [227]. Despite BioViva's self-experimentation with telomerase activation as an antiaging treatment, this therapy was not yet suitable for human usage because it was unknown how it may have worked. There were also security worries. Although some researchers anticipated that preserving telomeres might cause cancer, it was discovered that the mice used in the study were cancer-resistant [228]. Damage to essential biomolecules and aberrant gene expression, especially those related with aging, have been linked to chronic ROS overproduction. As a result, many aging-related clinical disorders attribute their beginning and course to this risk factor. To put it another way, aging-related disease situations can lead to unusually high ROS concentrations, which in turn can lead to permanently altered gene expression and signal transduction patterns [229]. Telomere shortening with age can be exacerbated by long-term exposure to chronic oxidative stress. Telomeres reduce with every division of a cell in the lack of telomerase activity, which is a crucial factor in aging processes [230]. In contrast, another research suggests that telomere shortening is influenced by both the frequency of cell divisions and the level of oxidative stress in the body [231]. These findings showed that oxidative stress may play a substantial role in the aging process and the diseases that accompany it, and that reducing or eliminating oxidative stress may be a useful strategy for delaying or slowing the aging process. As a result, many academics and medical professionals believe that taking antioxidant supplements can help delay or even prevent the onset of age-related diseases. However, the research conclusions on this subject are highly disputed. Randomized controlled trials of antioxidant supplements in humans are not linked to the improvement or prevention of cardiovascular disease or other age-related pathological disorders. Many studies show a link between vitamin supplements and an increased risk of death in well-nourished people, particularly in those who take vitamin A and vitamin E on a daily basis [232]. A study was performed to enhance the activity of telomerase by discovering potent activators and Telomerase activity increased 2 to 9

times more in in vitro model than in untreated cells. Importantly, the most powerful activator among commercially available supplements was the 08AGTL formulation, which contained Centella asiatica extract and increased telomerase activity by about nine-fold. Even more impressive was the potency of 08AGTL, which reached 17.3% of the telomerase activation of the positive control, a much greater percentage than the rest of the compounds examined, in terms of enhancing telomerase activity. They wanted to identify natural chemicals that could promote telomerase activity, which could lead to prolonged life expectancy and good aging. This natural product, 08AGTLF as shown in figure 2.4, which contains *Centella asiatica* extract, appears to have an impact on telomerase activity, but further study based on independent, randomized controlled studies investigating the underlying mechanisms is needed to confirm this. Telomere length, aging, and human health should be examined in future human intervention studies [60]. For the most part, only embryonic stem cells display telomerase activity. After birth, telomerase activity is dramatically reduced in all organs except for those that are capable of proliferation, such as the skin, gut, bone marrow, lymphocytes that divide, ovaries, and testes. Telomere shortening occurs as a result of telomerase deficiency in most human somatic cells. Cell immortalization is possible as a result of enhanced cellular telomerase activity and overexpression of TERT [233]. But there are evidences present where telomerase activity was enhanced along with the activation of tumor suppressor genes to prevent the danger of cell proliferation[61]. TERT, a component of telomerase, was found to be constitutively expressed in mice that were bred to be cancer resistant by increasing the expression of the tumor suppressors p53, p16, and p19ARF, according to the findings of the study. Activation of TERT increases the fitness of epithelial barriers, notably those of the skin and the intestine, and results in a systemic delay in aging, as well as an extension of the median life span in this environment. These findings reveal that constitutive expression of hTERT has antiaging action in the domain of mammalian organisms, which is consistent with previous findings[61].



Figure 2.4. 2D structure of *Centella asiatica* extract formulation 08AGTLF that showed a positive impact on telomerase activity.

# CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY

### **Chapter 3**

## 3. Methodology

# **3.1 Biological Regulatory Network (BRN) construction and its dynamic simulation**

From a comprehensive literature search [193, 194, 208, 234] and the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) database [235], To build a knowledgedriven biological regulatory network, researchers compiled a list of genes and proteins that interact (in either an activating or inhibitory fashion) with hTERT and p53 (BRN). Only modulatory proteins that have been shown to interact with hTERT or p53 in some way were chosen for use in the BRN's assembly. Different forms of protein interactions (activation and inhibition) were each represented as a directed edge linking two nodes in BRN. The BRN graph was created with the help of the user-friendly graphical software yEd v3.18.1.1 [236]. Initially, a model of a discrete biological regulatory network was built by assigning values to each item in the network: 0.0 for inactivity, 0.5 for moderate activity, and 1.0 for hyperactivity. The role of hTERT and p53 in cell proliferation and apoptosis was examined using continuous modelling and dynamic simulation of the network under three separate conditions: (a) normal hTERT activation, (b) moderate hTERT activation, and (c) hyper hTERT activation. The Java Genetic Regulatory Network Simulation Framework (Jimena) was used [237] to extrapolate the activation and inhibition states of various nodes described by the Boolean method [238]. As a whole, built BRN was simulated using continuous modelling, where nodes represent values in the interval [0, 1], and the network's behavior is determined by real-valued ODEs. The network's dynamic behavior was investigated by simulating it with the SQUAD simulation technique [239]. Briefly, SQUAD is an algorithm based on binary decision diagrams. By first viewing the network as a discrete dynamical system, the SQUAD approach generates a continuous dynamical biological regulatory network [214] by localizing the network's stable states [239]. With Wittmann et al., [240] explanation in mind, we designed a BRN where the node values were normalized-Hill functions, with SQUAD decay set to 1.0 and SQUAD steepness set to 10 [239-241]. With a step size (dt) of 0.05, the network was simulated for 100 simulation time seconds. To investigate the

dynamical behavior of the chosen entities in the hTERT and p53 regulatory network, we imported the data acquired from simulations into the open-source interactive graphical program plotly (https://plot.ly/) [242].

### **3.2 Activators data collection**

The data of positive transcriptional regulators of hTERT was available publicly. The structures of c-Myc, signal transducer and activation of transcription 3 (STAT3), hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF1 $\alpha$ ) and the transcription factor c-Jun [184] were retrieved from RCSB Protein Databank and these activators were selected through literature search as shown in the **table 3.1**. The structures were selected on the basis of their resolutions and recency. [243-246].

Activator	PDB ID	Resolution	Structure	References
c-Myc	6e16	2.40 Å	and the second	[247]
STAT3	6tlc	2.90 Å	BO THE AND	[248]
HIF1α	51a9	2.81 Å		[249]
c-Jun	6eq9	1.83 Å		[250]

Table 3.1. The PDB IDs, resolutions and structures of positive regulators of hTERT.

### **3.3 Molecular docking**

To investigate the molecular interactions between hTERT and its activators, the rigid protein docking was performed using ClusPro 2.0. Within this server three computational steps have been implemented that include: 1) rigid body docking using the FFT (Fast Fourier Transform) correlation approach, 2) RMSD (Root Mean Square Deviation) based clustering of the structures generated to find the largest cluster that will represent the likely models of the complex, and 3) the refinement of selected structures [251]. By default, the server settings of ClusPro 2.0 simultaneously generate four types of models using the scoring algorithms designated as balanced, electrostatic-favored, hydrophobic-favored, and van der Waals + electrostatic. We selected the top ranked (relative low energies) docking structures for all the activators was not performed yet due to time constraints, but it is planned to perform in near future.

### **3.4** Analysis and visualization of docked complexes

Final docked output files were analyzed to check the interactions between the residues of both proteins within the complex. Information about the interface area and residues across all docked complexes was determined using PDBsum online server [252]. This server summarizes the information about bonded, non-bonded contacts and the interacting residues between the two proteins of a docked complex. Visualization of all the interacting residues was done by MOE [253].

#### **3.5 Molecular dynamic simulation of the docked complexes**

In order to assess the stability of the docked complexes, molecular dynamic simulation was employed on c-Myc-hTERT complex and STAT3-hTERT complex because of the early availability and better interactions of c-Myc and STAT3 with hTERT. The molecular dynamic simulation software GROMACS 2019.6 was used to assess the reliability of the docked complexes' binding residues and hydrogen bonds [254]. The structure of the docked protein-protein complex was constructed using the all-atom force field Charmm27. Solvation was carried out in a periodic box using the SPC216 water model, and the results were neutralized with Na+ and Cl- addition.

Initially energy minimization was completed using steepest descent minimization algorithm for 50000 steps and tolerance of 1000J/Å to eliminate the steric clashes of the complexes. Under conditions of constant temperature and pressure, equilibrium of minimum energy was reached for a pressure of 1000ps (default value). The Berendsen thermostat and barostat were used to maintain 300K temperatures and 1 atm pressure for the duration of the Molecular dynamic simulation sessions. Direct electrostatic interactions with a cut-off value of 1 nm were calculated using the fast smooth Particle-Mesh Ewald (PME) summation. Various MD runs up to 100ns duration were investigated.



Figure 3.1 Schematic diagram representing the methodology used in this study

# **CHAPTER 4**

# RESULTS

### **Chapter 4**

## 4. **Results**

# 4.1 Biological Regulatory Network (BRN) simulations of hTERT and p53

Based on this information, the activators and inhibitors that interact with hTERT and p53 were chosen to form the theoretical BRN depicted in figure 4.1. Apoptosis and cell division were chosen as potential outcomes in the simulations [255, 256]. IkB was considered as the downstream signaling target of ROS that phosphorylates itself and activates NF $\kappa$ B [257]. NF $\kappa$ B was also included in BRN due to its importance in the regulation of the c-Myc transcription, that has a major role in cell cycle and proliferation [193, 258]. c-Myc further activates hTERT which is considered the most crucial factor in the regulation of cell proliferation. hTERT negatively regulates ROS because the mitochondrial production of ROS as a byproduct of oxidative respiration is enhanced by the shortening of telomeres, aging process and by exposure to carcinogens, radiation and other environmental toxins that produce elevated levels of intracellular ROS [259, 260]. Additionally, according to earlier research, hTERT overexpression lowers the basal levels of intracellular ROS and blocks the creation of endogenous ROS in response to stimuli that cause cells to produce ROS, hence reducing ROS-mediated cell apoptosis or programmed cell death [20, 21]. Moreover, p53 was considered important in the regulation of apoptosis which leads to cell death. p53 gets the activation signals from ROS and it further activates NF $\kappa$ B [261]. hTERT and p53 were considered the key contenders in the network, responsible for the responses of cell proliferation and apoptosis, respectively. Sp1 activated by ROS, was considered as the mainstream activating factor that positively regulates both the key contenders hTERT and p53 [194, 234].

In the network, it is essential to assume that Sp1 node is in a stable condition, where each node has a concentration parameter value of zero. In addition, Sp1 was regarded as the network's initiator, followed by dynamic simulations of continuous modeling. Initial parameters for scaled concentration levels in the BRN were defined as 0.0 for the inactive state, 0.1-0.4 for low activation states, 0.5-0.9 for the active state, and

1.0 for the hyperactive state. In order to accurately quantify the activation and inhibition relationship between the extracted nodes, the BRN was simulated until all states reached a stable state.



# Figure 4.1. Biological regulatory network (BRN) of hTERT and p53 in a normal human cell. The hTERT mediated signals play an important role in cell proliferation and p53 plays a crucial role in cell apoptosis.

Under the dynamic simulations of a normal cell, the initial scaled concentrations of all the entities including the main activator Sp1 were kept in low activation range (0). To check the slightly more but normal activation of hTERT, the concentration of Sp1 was increased to moderately active state (0.5). And in the next round, the concentration of Sp1 was increased to hyperactive state (1.0) to check the over activation of hTERT, as shown in **table 4.1**.

Nodes	Sp1 value 0 (Normal Activation of hTERT)		Sp1 va (Moderate of hT	llue 0.5 e activation 'ERT)	Sp1 value 1 (Hyperactivation of hTERT)	
	Before simulation	After simulation	Before simulation	After simulation	Before simulation	After simulation
Sp1	0	0.625	0.5	0.420	1	0.149
hTERT	0	0.676	0	0.825	0	0.916
p53	0	0.756	0	0.772	0	0.394
ROS	0	0.318	0	0.167	0	0.054
ІкВ	0	0.623	0	0.418	0	0.148
NFĸB	0	0.727	0	0.852	0	0.815
C-Myc	0	0.600	0	0.795	0	0.933
Proliferation	0	0.682	0	0.833	0	0.946
Apoptosis	0	0.670	0	0.829	0	0.853

Table 4.1. Parameter values of entities interacting with hTERT and p53 before and after simulations generated by Jimena.

#### **4.2 Dynamic model simulations:**

During the simulation, the hTERT and p53 Sp1a's participation in the regulation of cell growth, development, and, intriguingly, apoptosis led to the initiation of efflux[262]. The Sp1 mediated effluxes of all the entities are shown in the form of graphs in **figure 4.2**. At each time step, a progressive increase in hTERT and p53 was detected, which eventually reached the moderately active expression level (0.676 and 0.756 respectively). At this level, the values for hTERT varied from 0.22-0.93, and the values for p53 ranged from 0.02-0.8, as shown in **figure 4.2 (a).** hTERT directly initiated the proliferation and p53 helped the cell to undergo apoptosis.



Figure 4.2. Jimena's dynamic simulations of the biological regulatory network of hTERT and p53 reveal the effect of activator-mediated effluxes on the regulation of cell proliferation and death by hTERT and p53. The x-axis indicates time in seconds and the y-axis indicates the relative concentration of activators and inhibitors. (a) The results of the simulation with Sp1 in its inactive initial state. b) The simulation outcomes when Sp1 is initially in the active state. (c) The simulated consequences when Sp1 is originally maintained in its hyperactive state.

hTERT alleviates the expression of ROS, so the slight increase in ROS expression (0.318) and it oscillated between 0.01-0.54 can be seen in figure 4.2 (a). By subsequent expression of ROS as well as assuming the prior activation of Sp1 (due to ubiquitous activation at promoter site within the human genome) in the BRN, the signal peak of Sp1 gradually reached at moderately active expression level (0.625) that ranged from 0.01-0.62 which in turn initiates both hTERT and p53 signaling. ROS further gives the positive signals to IkB which also gradually increases to moderately active level (0.623) that oscillated between 0.01-0.62. Activation of NFkB is controlled by sequential phosphorylation and ubiquitination of IkB. p53 also passes the positive activation signal to NFkB (0.727) which ranged between 0.03-0.89 throughout the simulation, that further activates c-Myc which then reaches its moderate level (0.600) which first oscillated between 0.1-0.84. c-Myc drives multiple synthetic functions necessary for rapid growth of cell division and activates hTERT for cell proliferation. Figure 4.2 (a) represents that the biological expression of hTERT and p53 is responsible for cell proliferation and apoptosis.

Next, the BRN was tested for Sp1, the mainstream activator's initial value 0.5. Due to this both p53 that swayed between 0.01-067 and hTERT that oscillated between 0.21-0.9, increased gradually towards slightly more active state, (0.825 and 0.77 respectively). This increment led the proliferation to gradually reach its more activated state (0.833) that first swayed from 0.45-0.97. Similarly, apoptosis also increased and reached its active state (0.829) that ranged 0.04-0.89 as shown in **figure 4.2 (b)**. BRN was also tested by applying 0.5 as the initial values for both the activators, Sp1 and c-Myc as shown in the **figure 4.3 (a)** and the respective values of all entities are shown in **table 4.2**.



Figure 4.3. Jimena's dynamic simulations of the biological regulatory network of hTERT and p53 reveal the effect of two activator-mediated effluxes (Sp1 and c-Myc) on the regulation of cell proliferation and death by hTERT and p53. The x-axis indicates time in seconds and the y-axis indicates the relative concentration of activators and inhibitors. (a) The results of the simulation with Sp1 and c-Myc in their active beginning configuration. (b) The simulation outcomes when Sp1 and c-Myc are initially in hyperactive states.

	With Sp1 an	d c-Myc value	With Sp1 and c-Myc			
Nodes	0.5 value 1			ue 1		
	Before	After	Before	After		
	simulation	simulation	simulation	simulation		
Sp1	0.5	0.118	1	0.078		
hTERT	0	0.923	0	0.929		
р53	0	0.318	0	0.214		
ROS	0	0.043	0	0.028		
IkB	0	0.117	0	0.077		
NFκB	0	0.737	0	0.560		
C-Myc	0.5	0.944	1	0.944		
Proliferation	0	0.957	0	0.972		
Apoptosis	0	0.785	0	0.605		

Table 4.2. Parameter values of entities interacting with hTERT and p53 before andafter simulations generated by Jimena.

Furthermore, the initial value of the mainstream activator Sp1 was set as hyperactive value 1 to check the changes in BRN. The expression level of hTERT first oscillated between 0.2 - 0.95 and then reached its maximum near the hyperactive state (0.916). The expression level of p53 oscillated between 0.02-0.8 and finally decreased to slightly active state (0.394) and the responses, including proliferation (ranged between 0.48-0.99) and apoptosis (oscillated between 0.06-0.89) also increased to 0.946 and 0.853 respectively, as shown in **figure 4.2 (c)**.

This BRN was again tested by setting the initial values of both activators Sp1 and c-Myc as hyperactive 1 and the values of the responses gradually increased to more active states because of the influence of two positive regulators, which can be seen in **figure 4.3 (b)**.

To observe, if the expression level of important nodes and responses of BRN get back to the normal active states, an inhibitor (PLK1) was applied in the network and by doing so, both the main entities (hTERT and p53) gained the negative feedback from the inhibitor. So, the responses of BRN i.e., proliferation and apoptosis got back to the normal active state values (0.552 and 0.515 respectively).

### 4.3 Molecular docking

To analyze the interactions of hTERT protein with different naturally occurring activator proteins (c-Myc, STAT3, HIF1 $\alpha$  and c-Jun), docking with in-house structural model of hTERT using ClusPro protein–protein docking program was performed. From the docking results of all the complexes, the top ranked cluster according to the highest number of poses and the least cluster center score, was selected. For each complex, the number of generated conformations and the cluster center score is shown in the **table 4.3**.

The complex with the highest number of poses generated and the lowest cluster center score depict the best binding complex. **Table 4.3** shows c-Myc-hTERT complex and HIF1 $\alpha$ -hTERT complex as the better complexes as compared to others due to their higher number of generated poses and lower cluster center scores. But according to the literature, c-Myc and STAT3 are the activators that show better and early availability to hTERT [193, 263]. Therefore, depending on all these parameters, c-Myc-hTERT complex and STAT3-hTERT complex were selected for further analysis.

Docked complex	No. of poses generated	Cluster center score
c-Myc-hTERT	64	-841.9 Kcal/mol
STAT3-hTERT	47	-826.8 Kcal/mol
HIF1a-hTERT	48	-1105.6 Kcal/mol
c-Jun-hTERT	36	-860.3 Kcal/mol

Table 4.3. The number of conformations generated and the cluster center score of the top ranked pose from all docked complexes.

### 4.4 Interactions between the molecules of docked complexes

For c-Myc-hTERT complex, 30 residues of hTERT and 29 residues of c-Myc showed 207 different interactions with each other out of which there were 22 hydrogen bond interactions. Residues that are involved in H-bonds are His151, Arg155, Arg208, Ala210, Val212, Arg224, Ser227, Glu339, Glu533 and Arg535 as shown in figure 4.4 (a). Maximum residues of hTERT that interacted with c-Myc after docking were from the binding site of hTERT that is the RNA binding domain of hTERT. All the involved residues were from residue number 61-299 and then from residue no 339-535. From the STAT3-hTERT complex, maximum interactions were observed on the binding site of the receptor protein hTERT [264]. 193 different interactions were observed between 23 residues of hTERT and 33 residues of STAT3, out of which 21 were hydrogen bonds. Residues that showed hydrogen bonding are Gly35, Arg63, Asp147, His151, Trp203, Asn204, Arg208, Glu209, Arg224, Ser227 and Ala228 as shown in figure 4.4 (b). The residues that showed interactions are from residue no 34-299. From the HIF1α-hTERT complex, 31 residues of hTERT and 27 residues of HIF1 $\alpha$  were involved in 196 linkages. There were 15 hydrogen bonds between the receptor protein and the ligand protein and involved resides are Arg3, Arg6, Cys7, Arg11, Arg15, Thr26, Arg48, Ala52 and Trp203 as shown in figure 4.4 (c). Interacting residues were from residue number 3-204 and all were from the binding site of hTERT. Similarly, from the c-Jun-hTERT complex, there were 289 interactions seen between 35 residues of hTERT and 35 residues of c-Jun and most of the interactions were on the binding site of hTERT. 30 hydrogen bonds were formed by Arg185, Pro188, Arg208, Gly220, Ala221, Arg222, Arg223, Arg224, Ser227, Arg466, Arg485, Arg486, Arg489, Asn490, Lys493, Met512, Ser513, Arg535 and Arg537 as shown in **figure 4.4 (d).** Interacting residues were from residue no 185-227 and 466-537. Some residues from 1016 to 1027 were also involved in interactions.



Figure 4.4. Interacting residues of all the activators (c-Myc, STAT3, HIF1α and c-Jun) with hTERT within a docked complex, given by pdbsum.

### 4.5 Molecular dynamic simulations of docked complexes

The molecular dynamic simulation of the selected activators complexes with hTERT helped in achieving the stability at human body temperature and pressure. The c-Myc-hTERT complex RMSD plot as shown in **figure 4.5**, represents that the complex was a little fluctuating till 20ns with approximately 0.4nm (4 Å) RMSD and the complex stabilized itself at around 0.5 to 0.6nm (5 to 6 Å) on 20 to 50 ns simulation time.



Figure 4.5. Molecular dynamic simulation of c-Myc-hTERT complex for 50 ns, which depicts lowest RMSD of complex at 0 ns and 0.5-0.6 at 50 ns.

The binding site of hTERT was not changed during the MD simulation of 50ns for the c-Myc-hTERT complex and the structure before and after MD was almost same as shown in **figure 4.6**. **Table 4.4** shows the binding site residues of hTERT before and after MD simulation and it can be identified that c-Myc-hTERT complex has hydrogen bonds formed by Arg-224 and Arg-535 were found common in the before and after MD structures. This indicates that the interactions identified after docking protocol were highly stable.



Figure 4.6. The interaction sites of binding residues before and after Molecular dynamic simulation in c-Myc-hTERT complex.

	Before sin	nulation		After Simulation			
Residues	Receptor protein atom	Ligand protein atom	H-bond Distance (Å)	Residues	Receptor protein atom	Ligand protein atom	H-bond Distance (Å)
His-151	ND1	0	2.81	Arg-108	NH1	OE1	2.60
Arg-155	NH1	0	2.68	Arg-224	NH2	OE1	2.66
Arg-208	NH1	OE1	2.70	Gly-225	N	OE2	2.85
Ala-210	0	NZ	2.51	Gly-226	N	OE2	2.72
Val-212	0	OH	2.75	Arg-239	NH1	OG1	2.80
Arg-224	NH2	OE1	2.72	Arg-293	NH2	OE2	2.60
Ser-227	OG	0	2.66	Ser-295	OG	OE2	2.69
Arg-237	NH2	0	2.73	Val-299	0	OG	2.66
Arg-293	NE	OE2	2.85	Gly-527	0	NZ	3.00
Glu-339	OE2	NZ	2.50	Ala-531	N	0	3.00
Glu-533	OE2	NZ	2.53	His-534	NH2	OE1	2.65
Arg-535	NH2	OE2	2.72	Arg-535	NH2	OE2	2.57

Table 4.4. c-Myc-hTERT complex hydrogen bonding residues and binding interactions at 0 ns and 50 ns.

Moreover, the RMSF plot as shown in **figure 4.7** depicted the residues that are the most fluctuating from the complex. Leu-199, Asp197, His-303, Ser434 and Leu1103 are the residues that are fluctuating from the mean structure the most. But all of these residues were located in the loop, and this can be a reason of their fluctuation and these residues are also not involved in binding so it will not affect the binding pattern as well.



Figure 4.7. Serine, Histidine, Leucine and Aspartic acid are the most fluctuating residues in c-Myc-hTERT complex.

Furthermore, the radius of gyration for c-Myc-hTERT complex was stable at 3.54nm throughout the simulation time as shown in **figure 4.8**, which indicates the compactness of the complex.



Figure 4.8. Radius of gyration at 3.7 nm shows that c-Myc-hTERT complex is significantly compacted.

In case of STAT3-hTERT complex, it was found that the complex showed little fluctuations in the start of the simulation having RMSD around 0.5nm (5 Å) as shown in the **figure 4.9**, but after 10ns, stability was gained with RMSD around 0.6nm (6 Å) till the end of the simulation.



Figure 4.9. Molecular Dynamic Simulation of STAT3-hTERT complex for 25 ns, which depicts lowest RMSD of complex at 0 ns and 0.5-0.6 at 25 ns.

The binding site of STAT3-hTERT complex was not much changed during the 25ns simulation and the structure before and after MD was almost same as shown in **figure 4.10**. The binding site residues of hTERT in STAT3-hTERT complex are shown in **table 4.5**, and it can be observed that the hydrogen bonding residues Gly-35, Arg-63, Asp-147, Trp-203, Ser-206, Ser-227and Ala-228 were found common in both the before and after MD structures as shown in **figure 4.11**. This validates that the docking interactions of this complex were highly stable.



Figure 4.10. The interaction sites of binding residues before and after Molecular dynamic simulation in STAT3-hTERT complex.

The RMSF plot was also analyzed showing Arg-358, Ser-368, Glu-432 and Arg-774 are the highly fluctuating residues from their mean structure. But these residues are not involved in interactions, so they don't have any effects on the interaction profile of STAT3-hTERT.





Additionally, the STAT3-hTERT complex was found highly compacted by the radius of gyration shown in **figure 4.12**, that was stable throughout the simulation at 3.3nm.



Figure 4.12. Radius of gyration at 3.3 nm shows that STAT3-hTERT complex is significantly compacted.

teractions at 0 ns and 25 ns.									
Before Simulation				After Simulation					
Residues	Receptor protein atom	Ligand protein atom	H-bond Distance (Å)	Residues	Receptor protein atom	Ligand protein atom	H-bond Distance (Å)		
Gly-35	0	N	3.18	Gly-35	0	N	3.26		
Asp-61	OD2	NH2	2.62	Arg-63	NH1	OG	2.68		
Arg-63	NH1	OG	2.93	Asp-147	OD2	NZ	2.86		

Trp-203

Ser-206

Ser-227

Ala-228

NE1

0

OG

Ν

0

NH1

OE2

OE1

2.79

2.78

2.58

3.04

Table 4.5. STAT3-hTERT complex hydrogen bonding residues and binding interactions at 0 ns and 25 ns.

On the basis of these interaction profiles of the activators of hTERT, new artificial activators of hTERT can be designed in future to reverse the aging process. Furthermore, in this thesis work, we have just considered hTERT and its activators. However, in future, p53 and its activators can be explored along with the activators of hTERT. And later on different machine learning models can be built where these interactions or interaction sites (considered as attributes) can be evaluated with the interaction profiles of unknown peptides of monoclonal antibodies of hTERT to classify them as activator or non-activator of hTERT.

Asp-147

His-189

Trp-203

Asn-204

Ser-206

Ser-227

Ala-228

OD1

ND1

NE1

OD1

Ν

OG

Ν

NZ

OD1

0

Ν

OG

OE2

OE1

2.97

2.82

3.26

3.20

2.78

2.78

3.34

Chapter 5 Discussion

## **Chapter 5**

## 5. Discussion

hTERT plays a vital role in cell proliferation and delaying the aging process. And p53 plays an important role in cell apoptosis and tumor suppression [265, 266]. As both of these functions are significant for increasing the cell replication process but to a normal limit, this makes hTERT and p53 very significant and effective target for the age reversal process. The aim of this study was to activate hTERT to a normal range by co targeting p53 and to elucidate the interaction profile of hTERT and its activators. Herein, a knowledge-driven biological regulatory network (BRN) has been constructed to highlight the role of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes interaction with hTERT and p53 in cell cycle progression, proliferation, and apoptosis. We have simulated the BRN and observed that the Sp1 node has a central role in the network. Where the changes in the concentration of Sp1 node (by setting its value 0.0, 0.5, 1.0 throughout the entire simulation) results in the changes in concentrations of hTERT and p53 and eventually effecting the cell proliferation and apoptosis by generating signal peaks.

From the constructed network, it can be observed that Sp1 is the main node that is activating both of our target's hTERT and p53 but it could not be considered as the main target of this study because Sp1 is not only present in this pathway rather it is involved in many other pathways as well. Moreover, Sp1 is not directly linked to the cell proliferation and apoptosis that are the main responses of this BRN. However, hTERT and p53 are directly linked to proliferation and apoptosis, respectively. Our simulation results demonstrate that Sp1 activates both hTERT and p53, hTERT further inhibits ROS but p53 further activates NF $\kappa$ B. ROS also activates NF $\kappa$ B via phosphorylated I $\kappa$ B. NF $\kappa$ B is responsible for the initiation of c-Myc transcription where c-Myc binds to the E-box on the TERT promotor region and triggers transcription process. That eventually leads to the activation of hTERT. These signaling nodes, pathways and the results of this simulation are also supported by the previous studies where hTERT mediated the cell proliferation and p53 lead to the tumor suppression by increasing apoptosis [193, 194, 208, 234, 267].
The simulation where Sp1 was set as 0.5 (moderately active) showed the most promising results where hTERT and p53 were activated till a balanced and normal concentration gradient. Furthermore, the responses (cell proliferation and apoptosis) were also lying in the moderately active range. Therefore, these results helped us achieving the objectives of this study that were to perform dynamic simulation of hTERT pathway to determine the concentration gradient of hTERT for the modulation of telomeres in normal human cells and to study the modulation of p53 along with hTERT for the regulation of normal cell proliferation/apoptosis by dynamic modeling of p53 along with hTERT pathway.

Another aim of this study was to elucidate the interaction pattern of hTERT with its activators, and it was not possible with the 3D structural model of hTERT and its naturally occurring biological activators. For that, an *in-house* homology model of hTERT was used, and the structures of activators were retrieved from PDB. The activators c-Myc, STAT3, HIF1 $\alpha$  and c-Jun were docked individually with hTERT. This protein-protein docking showed several interactions between the hTERT and activators which showed the strong binding pattern between them. Furthermore, these activators were ranked on the basis of availability and interactions with hTERT and the top two docked complexes c-MYC-hTERT and STAT3-hTERT were selected for further analysis.

MD simulation of selected complexes c-Myc-hTERT and STAT3-hTERT was performed, and it was found that both the complexes achieved a stable RMSD between 5 and 6 Å. The MD simulation is the process that helps in the identification of the actively meaningful interaction for a specific period under the human body temperature and pressure [268]. The continuous force exerted on the molecules of complex only sustains the most stable interaction while breaking the less stable bonds. The stabilization of these complexes in a short time is due to the reason that the hTERT structure was also stabilized by the MD simulation before docking. The stability of the complex depends on the stability of the receptor protein that's why it led to the more stable complexes. It was also observed that there was no change in the binding cavity rather binding residues within the same cavity change. This change in binding interaction is due to the energy minimization during MD production which makes new bonds and breaks old bonds to find the most stable conformation. Glu-209, Ser-227, Ala-228, Arg293 and Val-299 were found commonly interacting in both c-Myc-hTERT complex and STAT3-hTERT-complex, before and after MD simulations which represents that these are highly significant residues of hTERT. Moreover, the hydrogen bond interactions were also common in both the complexes which represents that this interaction profile can be further used for the future design of artificial activators of hTERT.

## Conclusion

The average lifespan has increased dramatically during the past century as scientists have been looking for ways to increase the average human health span and lifespan. Telomeres are chromosomal DNA segments that play a critical role in the cell proliferation for antiaging. The loss of telomere length is an age-related cognitive decline that further leads to more age-related diseases like diabetes, chronic liver disease, hypertension, cardiovascular disease and neurological diseases. A key step in the development of new antiaging treatments is identifying the pathways that regulate longevity and this study demonstrates that hTERT and p53 mediated pathway can play an important role regarding this. Our findings highlight the therapeutic importance of hTERT mediated cell proliferation and p53 mediated cell apoptosis in normal human cells to reverse the aging process. In this study, a knowledge-driven pathway is being simulated in order to understand the effects of positive regulators of hTERT and p53 in the cell proliferation and apoptosis for reversing the age but also control the risk of cancerous cells by maintaining a balance between apoptosis and proliferation. Herein, different naturally occurring biological molecules like c-Myc, STAT3, HIF  $1\alpha$  and c-Jun have been studied to this end, as they can influence telomere length via stimulation of hTERT expression. The use of telomerase activators as a potential antiaging treatment seems encouraging. Docking protocol elucidated the interactions between hTERT and its activators and the Molecular dynamic simulation protocol helped validating these interactions. Glu-209, Ser-227, Ala-228, Arg-293 and Val-299 are the residues that are found interacting in docking as well as after MD simulations of both the c-Myc-hTERT and STAT3-hTERT complexes therefore, these are surely of significant importance in the hTERT interaction profile. Moreover, the interaction analysis will help in designing of artificial positive regulators of hTERT. By expansion of this study area and potential research in the future by activating hTERT and p53, we may be able to learn more about the substances and mechanisms that specifically target telomeres and so extend human life without keeping the risk of cancer.

## References

- Harman, D., *The aging process: major risk factor for disease and death.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1991. 88(12): p. 5360-5363.
- Harman, D., *The aging process*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1981. 78(11): p. 7124-7128.
- Geokas, M.C., et al., *The aging process*. Annals of internal medicine, 1990.
   113(6): p. 455-466.
- Harman, D., *Aging: overview*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 2001. 928(1): p. 1-21.
- Romano, A.D., et al., *Oxidative stress and aging*. Journal of nephrology, 2010.
   23: p. S29-36.
- 6. Shammas, M.A., *Telomeres, lifestyle, cancer, and aging*. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care, 2011. **14**(1): p. 28.
- Suji, G. and S. Sivakami, *Glucose, glycation and aging*. Biogerontology, 2004.
   5(6): p. 365-373.
- Lindner, A.B. and A. Demarez, *Protein aggregation as a paradigm of aging*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects, 2009. **1790**(10): p. 980-996.
- Kirkwood, T., DNA, mutations and aging. Mutation Research/DNAging, 1989.
   219(1): p. 1-7.
- Blackburn, E.H., *Structure and function of telomeres*. Nature, 1991. **350**(6319): p. 569-573.
- 11. Palm, W. and T. de Lange, *How shelterin protects mammalian telomeres*. Annual review of genetics, 2008. **42**: p. 301-334.
- 12. Van Steensel, B. and T. De Lange, *Control of telomere length by the human telomeric protein TRF1*. Nature, 1997. **385**(6618): p. 740-743.
- 13. Sfeir, A., et al., *Mammalian telomeres resemble fragile sites and require TRF1 for efficient replication*. Cell, 2009. **138**(1): p. 90-103.
- Griffith, J.D., et al., *Mammalian telomeres end in a large duplex loop*. Cell, 1999.
  97(4): p. 503-514.

- 15. Kim, S.-h., P. Kaminker, and J. Campisi, *TIN2, a new regulator of telomere length in human cells.* Nature genetics, 1999. **23**(4): p. 405-412.
- Hockemeyer, D., et al., *Telomere protection by mammalian Pot1 requires interaction with Tpp1*. Nature structural & molecular biology, 2007. 14(8): p. 754-761.
- 17. Celli, G.B. and T. de Lange, DNA processing is not required for ATM-mediated telomere damage response after TRF2 deletion. Nature cell biology, 2005. 7(7): p. 712-718.
- 18. Greider, C.W. and E.H. Blackburn, *Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in Tetrahymena extracts.* cell, 1985. **43**(2): p. 405-413.
- Cohen, S.B., et al., Protein composition of catalytically active human telomerase from immortal cells. Science, 2007. 315(5820): p. 1850-1853.
- Blackburn, E.H. and K. Collins, *Telomerase: an RNP enzyme synthesizes DNA*.
   Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2011. 3(5): p. a003558.
- Harley, C.B. and B. Villeponteau, *Telomeres and telomerase in aging and cancer*. Current opinion in genetics & development, 1995. 5(2): p. 249-255.
- Weng, N.-p., L. Granger, and R.J. Hodes, *Telomere lengthening and telomerase activation during human B cell differentiation*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1997. 94(20): p. 10827-10832.
- 23. Yang, C., et al., A key role for telomerase reverse transcriptase unit in modulating human embryonic stem cell proliferation, cell cycle dynamics, and in vitro differentiation. Stem Cells, 2008. **26**(4): p. 850-863.
- 24. Kim, N.W., et al., Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer. Science, 1994. **266**(5193): p. 2011-2015.
- 25. Batista, L.F., *Telomere biology in stem cells and reprogramming*. Progress in molecular biology and translational science, 2014. **125**: p. 67-88.
- Bayne, S., et al., Estrogen deficiency leads to telomerase inhibition, telomere shortening and reduced cell proliferation in the adrenal gland of mice. Cell Research, 2008. 18(11): p. 1141-1150.

- 27. Liu, J.-P., et al., *Regulation of telomerase activity by apparently opposing elements*. Ageing research reviews, 2010. **9**(3): p. 245-256.
- 28. Yi, X., et al., An alternate splicing variant of the human telomerase catalytic subunit inhibits telomerase activity. neoplasia, 2000. **2**(5): p. 433-440.
- Cong, Y., Wright WE, Shay JW. Human telomerase and its regulation. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev, 2002. 66: p. 407-425.
- 30. Xin, H., et al., *TPP1 is a homologue of ciliate TEBP-β and interacts with POT1 to recruit telomerase*. nature, 2007. **445**(7127): p. 559-562.
- 31. Holt, S.E., et al., *Functional requirement of p23 and Hsp90 in telomerase complexes*. Genes & development, 1999. **13**(7): p. 817-826.
- Jády, B.E., et al., Cell cycle-dependent recruitment of telomerase RNA and Cajal bodies to human telomeres. Molecular biology of the cell, 2006. 17(2): p. 944-954.
- Cristofari, G., et al., Human telomerase RNA accumulation in Cajal bodies facilitates telomerase recruitment to telomeres and telomere elongation. Molecular cell, 2007. 27(6): p. 882-889.
- Venteicher, A.S., et al., A human telomerase holoenzyme protein required for Cajal body localization and telomere synthesis. Science, 2009. 323(5914): p. 644-648.
- Cong, Y.-S., W.E. Wright, and J.W. Shay, *Human telomerase and its regulation*. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews, 2002. 66(3): p. 407-425.
- Kyo, S. and M. Inoue, Complex regulatory mechanisms of telomerase activity in normal and cancer cells: how can we apply them for cancer therapy? Oncogene, 2002. 21(4): p. 688-697.
- 37. Shay, J.W., *Telomeres and aging*. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, 2018. 52: p. 1-7.
- Aubert, G., et al., Collapse of telomere homeostasis in hematopoietic cells caused by heterozygous mutations in telomerase genes. PLoS genetics, 2012. 8(5): p. e1002696.

- Hayflick, L., *The limited in vitro lifetime of human diploid cell strains*.
   Experimental cell research, 1965. 37(3): p. 614-636.
- 40. Hayflick, L. and P.S. Moorhead, *The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains*. Experimental cell research, 1961. **25**(3): p. 585-621.
- 41. Olovnikov, A.M., A theory of marginotomy: the incomplete copying of template margin in enzymic synthesis of polynucleotides and biological significance of the phenomenon. Journal of theoretical biology, 1973. **41**(1): p. 181-190.
- 42. Greider, C.W. and E.H. Blackburn, The telomere terminal transferase of Tetrahymena is a ribonucleoprotein enzyme with two kinds of primer specificity. Cell, 1987. 51(6): p. 887-898.
- Allsopp, R.C., et al., *Telomere length predicts replicative capacity of human fibroblasts*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1992. 89(21): p. 10114-10118.
- 44. Minamino, T. and I. Komuro, *Vascular cell senescence: contribution to atherosclerosis*. Circulation research, 2007. **100**(1): p. 15-26.
- 45. Sone, H. and Y. Kagawa, Pancreatic beta cell senescence contributes to the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes in high-fat diet-induced diabetic mice. Diabetologia, 2005. 48(1): p. 58-67.
- 46. Cawthon, R.M., et al., Association between telomere length in blood and mortality in people aged 60 years or older. The Lancet, 2003. 361(9355): p. 393-395.
- 47. Serrano, A.L. and V. Andrés, *Telomeres and cardiovascular disease: does size matter?* Circulation research, 2004. **94**(5): p. 575-584.
- Wiemann, S.U., et al., Contrasting effects of telomere shortening on organ homeostasis, tumor suppression, and survival during chronic liver damage. Oncogene, 2005. 24(9): p. 1501-1509.
- 49. Counter, C.M., et al., *Telomerase activity in normal leukocytes and in hematologic malignancies*. 1995.

- 50. Hiyama, K., et al., Activation of telomerase in human lymphocytes and hematopoietic progenitor cells. The Journal of Immunology, 1995. **155**(8): p. 3711-3715.
- 51. Wright, W.E., et al., *Telomerase activity in human germline and embryonic tissues and cells*. Developmental genetics, 1996. **18**(2): p. 173-179.
- 52. Harley, C.B., et al. *Telomerase, cell immortality, and cancer.* in *Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology.* 1994. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- 53. Stewart, S.A. and A.A. Bertuch, *The Role of Telomeres and Telomerase in Cancer ResearchThe Role of Telomeres and Telomerase in Cancer Research*. Cancer research, 2010. **70**(19): p. 7365-7371.
- 54. Hahn, W.C., et al., Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature, 1999. 400(6743): p. 464-468.
- 55. Chen, Q., et al., Oxidative DNA damage and senescence of human diploid fibroblast cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1995. 92(10): p. 4337-4341.
- 56. Ren, J.-G., et al., *Hydroxyl radical-induced apoptosis in human tumor cells is associated with telomere shortening but not telomerase inhibition and caspase activation.* FEBS letters, 2001. **488**(3): p. 123-132.
- 57. Rubio, M.A., A.R. Davalos, and J. Campisi, *Telomere length mediates the effects* of telomerase on the cellular response to genotoxic stress. Experimental cell research, 2004. **298**(1): p. 17-27.
- 58. De Magalhães, J.P., M. Stevens, and D. Thornton, *The business of anti-aging science*. Trends in biotechnology, 2017. **35**(11): p. 1062-1073.
- Moulis, M. and C. Vindis, *Autophagy in metabolic age-related human diseases*. Cells, 2018. 7(10): p. 149.
- Tsoukalas, D., et al., *Discovery of potent telomerase activators: Unfolding new therapeutic and anti-aging perspectives*. Molecular medicine reports, 2019. 20(4): p. 3701-3708.

- 61. Tomás-Loba, A., et al., *Telomerase reverse transcriptase delays aging in cancerresistant mice*. Cell, 2008. **135**(4): p. 609-622.
- 62. LIU, J.P., *Studies of the molecular mechanisms in the regulation of telomerase activity*. The FASEB Journal, 1999. **13**(15): p. 2091-2104.
- Ahmed, A. and T. Tollefsbol, *Telomeres and telomerase: basic science implications for aging*. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 2001. 49(8): p. 1105-1109.
- 64. Skulachev, V.P., Aging is a specific biological function rather than the result of a disorder in complex living systems: biochemical evidence in support of Weismann's hypothesis. Biochemistry. Biokhimiia, 1997. **62**(11): p. 1191-1195.
- 65. Bodnar, A.G., et al., *Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells.* science, 1998. **279**(5349): p. 349-352.
- 66. Shay, J.W. and W.E. Wright, *The use of telomerized cells for tissue engineering*. Nature biotechnology, 2000. 18(1): p. 22-23.
- 67. Rudolph, K.L., et al., *Inhibition of experimental liver cirrhosis in mice by telomerase gene delivery*. Science, 2000. **287**(5456): p. 1253-1258.
- 68. Bär, C., et al., *Telomerase gene therapy rescues telomere length, bone marrow aplasia, and survival in mice with aplastic anemia.* Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology, 2016. **127**(14): p. 1770-1779.
- Klinger, R.Y., et al., *Relevance and safety of telomerase for human tissue engineering*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2006. 103(8): p. 2500-2505.
- 70. Nazari-Shafti, T.Z. and J.P. Cooke, *Telomerase therapy to reverse cardiovascular senescence*. Methodist DeBakey cardiovascular journal, 2015. **11**(3): p. 172.
- Shay, J.W. and W.E. Wright, *Hallmarks of telomeres in ageing research*. The Journal of Pathology: A Journal of the Pathological Society of Great Britain and Ireland, 2007. 211(2): p. 114-123.
- 72. Darimont, C., et al., *SV40 T antigen and telomerase are required to obtain immortalized human adult bone cells without loss of the differentiated phenotype.* 2002.

- 73. Oh, H., et al., *Telomerase reverse transcriptase promotes cardiac muscle cell proliferation, hypertrophy, and survival.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2001. **98**(18): p. 10308-10313.
- 74. Robertson, D.M., et al., *Characterization of growth and differentiation in a telomerase-immortalized human corneal epithelial cell line*. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science, 2005. **46**(2): p. 470-478.
- 75. Simonsen, J.L., et al., *Telomerase expression extends the proliferative life-span* and maintains the osteogenic potential of human bone marrow stromal cells. Nature biotechnology, 2002. 20(6): p. 592-596.
- 76. Vaughan, M.B., et al., *A reproducible laser-wounded skin equivalent model to study the effects of aging in vitro*. Rejuvenation Research, 2004. **7**(2): p. 99-110.
- 77. Doshida, M., et al., Raloxifene increases proliferation and up-regulates telomerase activity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2006. 281(34): p. 24270-24278.
- 78. Stewart, S.A., *Multiple levels of telomerase regulation*. Molecular interventions, 2002. 2(8): p. 481.
- 79. Calado, R.T., et al., *Sex hormones, acting on the TERT gene, increase telomerase activity in human primary hematopoietic cells.* Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology, 2009. **114**(11): p. 2236-2243.
- Townsley, D.M., et al., *Danazol treatment for telomere diseases*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2016. **374**(20): p. 1922-1931.
- 81. Bernardes de Jesus, B. and M.A. Blasco, *Telomerase at the intersection of cancer and aging*. Trends in genetics: TIG, 2013. **29**(9): p. 513-520.
- 82. Blasco, M.A., et al., *Telomere shortening and tumor formation by mouse cells lacking telomerase RNA*. Cell, 1997. **91**(1): p. 25-34.
- Blasco, M.A., *Telomeres and human disease: ageing, cancer and beyond*. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2005. 6(8): p. 611-622.
- 84. García-Cao, I., et al., *Increased p53 activity does not accelerate telomere-driven ageing*. EMBO reports, 2006. **7**(5): p. 546-552.

- 85. Jaskelioff, M., et al., *Telomerase reactivation reverses tissue degeneration in aged telomerase-deficient mice*. Nature, 2011. **469**(7328): p. 102-106.
- 86. Effros, R.B., *Telomere/telomerase dynamics within the human immune system: effect of chronic infection and stress*. Experimental gerontology, 2011. **46**(2-3): p. 135-140.
- 87. Ait-Aissa, K., et al., Friend or foe? Telomerase as a pharmacological target in cancer and cardiovascular disease. Pharmacological research, 2016. 111: p. 422-433.
- Quryshi, N., et al., Chemotherapeutic-Induced Cardiovascular Dysfunction: Physiological Effects, Early Detection—The Role of Telomerase to Counteract Mitochondrial Defects and Oxidative Stress. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2018. 19(3): p. 797.
- 89. Zhou, Q.-G., et al., *Hippocampal telomerase is involved in the modulation of depressive behaviors*. Journal of Neuroscience, 2011. **31**(34): p. 12258-12269.
- Zhou, Q.-G., et al., *Hippocampal TERT regulates spatial memory formation* through modulation of neural development. Stem Cell Reports, 2017. 9(2): p. 543-556.
- 91. Avin, B.A., C.B. Umbricht, and M.A. Zeiger, *Human telomerase reverse transcriptase regulation by DNA methylation, transcription factor binding and alternative splicing.* International journal of oncology, 2016. **49**(6): p. 2199-2205.
- 92. Liu, X., et al., Alternative splicing of hTERT pre-mRNA: a potential strategy for the regulation of telomerase activity. International journal of molecular sciences, 2017. 18(3): p. 567.
- 93. Kalaydina, R.-V., et al., Recent advances in "smart" delivery systems for extended drug release in cancer therapy. International journal of nanomedicine, 2018. 13: p. 4727.
- 94. Chan, M.S., et al., Cancer-cell-specific mitochondria-targeted drug delivery by dual-ligand-functionalized nanodiamonds circumvent drug resistance. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2017. 9(13): p. 11780-11789.

- 95. Lee, S.-A., et al., *Heat shock protein-mediated cell penetration and cytosolic delivery of macromolecules by a telomerase-derived peptide vaccine.* Biomaterials, 2013. 34(30): p. 7495-7505.
- 96. Cech, T., *Beginning to understand the end of the chromosome, Cell116, 273–*279. Google Scholar There is no corresponding record for this reference, 2004.
- 97. Mitchell, J.R., E. Wood, and K. Collins, *A telomerase component is defective in the human disease dyskeratosis congenita*. Nature, 1999. **402**(6761): p. 551-555.
- 98. Jacobs, S.A., E.R. Podell, and T.R. Cech, Crystal structure of the essential Nterminal domain of telomerase reverse transcriptase. Nature structural & molecular biology, 2006. 13(3): p. 218-225.
- 99. Armbruster, B.N., et al., *N-terminal domains of the human telomerase catalytic subunit required for enzyme activity in vivo*. Molecular and cellular biology, 2001.
  21(22): p. 7775-7786.
- Banik, S.S., et al., *C-terminal regions of the human telomerase catalytic subunit essential for in vivo enzyme activity*. Molecular and cellular biology, 2002.
  22(17): p. 6234-6246.
- Armbruster, B.N., et al., *Putative telomere-recruiting domain in the catalytic subunit of human telomerase*. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 2003. 23(9): p. 3237-3246.
- 102. Meier, R. and R. Müller, *A new arrangement for the registration of diaphragm movements*. The Journal of Physiology, 1938. **94**(2): p. 227.
- 103. Moyzis, R.K., et al., A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence,(TTAGGG) n, present at the telomeres of human chromosomes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1988. 85(18): p. 6622-6626.
- 104. De Lange, T., Shelterin: the protein complex that shapes and safeguards human telomeres. Genes & development, 2005. **19**(18): p. 2100-2110.
- 105. Doksani, Y., et al., Super-resolution fluorescence imaging of telomeres reveals TRF2-dependent T-loop formation. Cell, 2013. **155**(2): p. 345-356.
- 106. Sfeir, A. and T. De Lange, *Removal of shelterin reveals the telomere end*protection problem. Science, 2012. **336**(6081): p. 593-597.

- Shay, J.W., Telomerase Therapeutics: Telomeres Recognized as a DNA Damage Signal: Commentary re: K. Kraemer et al., Antisense-mediated hTERT inhibition specifically reduces the growth of human bladder cancer cells. Clin. Cancer Res., 9: 3794–3800, 2003. Clinical cancer research, 2003. 9(10): p. 3521-3525.
- 108. Van Steensel, B., A. Smogorzewska, and T. De Lange, *TRF2 protects human* telomeres from end-to-end fusions. Cell, 1998. **92**(3): p. 401-413.
- Wright, W.E. and J.W. Shay, *The two-stage mechanism controlling cellular senescence and immortalization*. Experimental gerontology, 1992. 27(4): p. 383-389.
- Harley, C.B., *Telomere loss: mitotic clock or genetic time bomb?* Mutation Research/DNAging, 1991. 256(2-6): p. 271-282.
- 111. Wright, W.E., O.M. Pereira-Smith, and J.W. Shay, *Reversible cellular senescence: implications for immortalization of normal human diploid fibroblasts*. Molecular and cellular biology, 1989. 9(7): p. 3088-3092.
- 112. Hanahan, D. and R.A. Weinberg, *Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation*. cell, 2011. 144(5): p. 646-674.
- 113. Shay, J.W., W.E. Wright, and H. Werbin, *Defining the molecular mechanisms of human cell immortalization*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)/Reviews on Cancer, 1991. **1072**(1): p. 1-7.
- 114. Morin, G.B., *The human telomere terminal transferase enzyme is a ribonucleoprotein that synthesizes TTAGGG repeats.* Cell, 1989. **59**(3): p. 521-529.
- Harrington, L., et al., Human telomerase contains evolutionarily conserved catalytic and structural subunits. Genes & development, 1997. 11(23): p. 3109-3115.
- 116. Cong, Y.-S., J. Wen, and S. Bacchetti, *The human telomerase catalytic subunit hTERT: organization of the gene and characterization of the promoter*. Human molecular genetics, 1999. 8(1): p. 137-142.
- MacNeil, D.E., H.J. Bensoussan, and C. Autexier, *Telomerase regulation from beginning to the end*. Genes, 2016. 7(9): p. 64.

- 118. Feng, J., et al., *The RNA component of human telomerase*. Science, 1995.
  269(5228): p. 1236-1241.
- 119. Venteicher, A.S., et al., *Identification of ATPases pontin and reptin as telomerase components essential for holoenzyme assembly.* cell, 2008. **132**(6): p. 945-957.
- 120. Vulliamy, T., et al., Mutations in the telomerase component NHP2 cause the premature ageing syndrome dyskeratosis congenita. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. 105(23): p. 8073-8078.
- 121. Saito, T., et al., Comparative gene mapping of the human and mouse TEP1 genes, which encode one protein component of telomerases. Genomics, 1997. 46(1): p. 46-50.
- 122. Liu, L., et al., *Genetic and epigenetic modulation of telomerase activity in development and disease*. Gene, 2004. **340**(1): p. 1-10.
- 123. Akincilar, S.C., B. Unal, and V. Tergaonkar, *Reactivation of telomerase in cancer*. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2016. **73**(8): p. 1659-1670.
- Beattie, T.L., et al., *Reconstitution of human telomerase activity in vitro*. Current Biology, 1998. 8(3): p. 177-180.
- 125. Weinrich, S.L., et al., *Reconstitution of human telomerase with the template RNA component hTR and the catalytic protein subunit hTRT*. Nature genetics, 1997.
  17(4): p. 498-502.
- Ishikawa, F., Regulation mechanisms of mammalian telomerase. A review. Biochemistry-New York-English Translation of Biokhimiya, 1997. 62(11): p. 1332-1337.
- 127. Avilion, A.A., et al., *Human telomerase RNA and telomerase activity in immortal cell lines and tumor tissues.* Cancer research, 1996. **56**(3): p. 645-650.
- 128. Yi, X., et al., *Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptors during embryonic implantation in the golden hamster (Mesocricetus auratus)*. Cell and tissue research, 1999. **296**(2): p. 339-349.
- 129. Morales, C.P., et al., *Absence of cancer–associated changes in human fibroblasts immortalized with telomerase.* Nature genetics, 1999. **21**(1): p. 115-118.

- Venkatesan, R.N. and C. Price, *Telomerase expression in chickens: constitutive activity in somatic tissues and down-regulation in culture.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1998. 95(25): p. 14763-14768.
- Alcaraz-Pérez, F., et al., A non-canonical function of telomerase RNA in the regulation of developmental myelopoiesis in zebrafish. Nature communications, 2014. 5(1): p. 1-11.
- 132. Nasir, L., et al., Telomere lengths and telomerase activity in dog tissues: a potential model system to study human telomere and telomerase biology. Neoplasia, 2001. 3(4): p. 351-359.
- 133. Wege, H., et al., *Regeneration in pig livers by compensatory hyperplasia induces high levels of telomerase activity.* Comparative Hepatology, 2007. **6**(1): p. 1-9.
- McClintock, B., *The stability of broken ends of chromosomes in Zea mays*. Genetics, 1941. 26(2): p. 234.
- Chang, S., Modeling aging and cancer in the telomerase knockout mouse. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 2005. 576(1-2): p. 39-53.
- 136. Bernardes de Jesus, B., et al., Telomerase gene therapy in adult and old mice delays aging and increases longevity without increasing cancer. EMBO molecular medicine, 2012. 4(8): p. 691-704.
- Prowse, K.R. and C.W. Greider, *Developmental and tissue-specific regulation of mouse telomerase and telomere length*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1995. 92(11): p. 4818-4822.
- Kirkpatrick, K., et al., hTERT mRNA expression correlates with telomerase activity in human breast cancer. European Journal of Surgical Oncology (EJSO), 2003. 29(4): p. 321-326.
- 139. Vousden, K.H., *p53: death star.* Cell, 2000. **103**(5): p. 691-694.
- 140. Choong, M.L., et al., Specific activation of the p53 pathway by low dose actinomycin D: a new route to p53 based cyclotherapy. Cell cycle, 2009. 8(17): p. 2810-2818.

- 141. Appella, E. and C.W. Anderson, *Post-translational modifications and activation* of p53 by genotoxic stresses. European journal of biochemistry, 2001. 268(10): p. 2764-2772.
- 142. Prives, C. and P.A. Hall, *The p53 pathway*. The Journal of pathology, 1999.
  187(1): p. 112-126.
- 143. Bell, S., et al., *p53 contains large unstructured regions in its native state*. Journal of molecular biology, 2002. **322**(5): p. 917-927.
- Wang, Y., et al., p53 domains: identification and characterization of two autonomous DNA-binding regions. Genes & development, 1993. 7(12b): p. 2575-2586.
- 145. Kaustov, L., et al., *p53 transcriptional activation domain: a molecular chameleon?* Cell Cycle, 2006. **5**(5): p. 489-494.
- Meng, X., et al., *MDM2–p53 Pathway in Hepatocellular CarcinomaMDM2–p53 Pathway in HCC*. Cancer research, 2014. **74**(24): p. 7161-7167.
- 147. Teufel, D.P., et al., Four domains of p300 each bind tightly to a sequence spanning both transactivation subdomains of p53. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2007. 104(17): p. 7009-7014.
- 148. Wu, X., et al., *The p53-mdm-2 autoregulatory feedback loop*. Genes & development, 1993. **7**(7a): p. 1126-1132.
- 149. Baptiste, N., et al., *The proline-rich domain of p53 is required for cooperation with anti-neoplastic agents to promote apoptosis of tumor cells.* Oncogene, 2002.
  21(1): p. 9-21.
- 150. Kitayner, M., et al., Structural basis of DNA recognition by p53 tetramers. Molecular cell, 2006. 22(6): p. 741-753.
- 151. Nagaich, A.K., et al., p53-induced DNA bending and twisting: p53 tetramer binds on the outer side of a DNA loop and increases DNA twisting. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1999. 96(5): p. 1875-1880.
- 152. Friedler, A., et al., *Modulation of binding of DNA to the C-terminal domain of p53 by acetylation*. Structure, 2005. **13**(4): p. 629-636.

- 153. Luo, J., et al., Acetylation of p53 augments its site-specific DNA binding both in vitro and in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2004.
  101(8): p. 2259-2264.
- 154. Cho, Y., et al., *Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations.* Science, 1994. **265**(5170): p. 346-355.
- 155. Méplan, C., M.-J. Richard, and P. Hainaut, Metalloregulation of the tumor suppressor protein p53: zinc mediates the renaturation of p53 after exposure to metal chelators in vitro and in intact cells. Oncogene, 2000. 19(46): p. 5227-5236.
- Bullock, A.N., et al., *Thermodynamic stability of wild-type and mutant p53 core domain*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1997. 94(26): p. 14338-14342.
- 157. Cañadillas, J.M.P., et al., Solution structure of p53 core domain: structural basis for its instability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2006.
  103(7): p. 2109-2114.
- 158. Nakamura, T.M., et al., *Telomerase catalytic subunit homologs from fission yeast and human*. Science, 1997. **277**(5328): p. 955-959.
- 159. Kilian, A., et al., Isolation of a candidate human telomerase catalytic subunit gene, which reveals complex splicing patterns in different cell types. Human molecular genetics, 1997. 6(12): p. 2011-2019.
- Broccoli, D., J.W. Young, and T. de Lange, *Telomerase activity in normal and malignant hematopoietic cells*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1995. **92**(20): p. 9082-9086.
- 161. Cifuentes-Rojas, C. and D.E. Shippen, *Telomerase regulation*. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 2012. **730**(1-2): p. 20-27.
- 162. Harle-Bachor, C. and P. Boukamp. *Telomerase activity in the regenerative basal layer of the epidermis in human skin and in immortal and carcinoma-derived skin keratinocytes.* in *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science.* 1996.

- 163. Ramirez, R.D., et al., *Telomerase activity concentrates in the mitotically active segments of human hair follicles*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 1997.
  108(1): p. 113-117.
- 164. Harley, C.B., A.B. Futcher, and C.W. Greider, *Telomeres shorten during ageing* of human fibroblasts. Nature, 1990. **345**(6274): p. 458-460.
- 165. Counter, C.M., et al., Telomere shortening associated with chromosome instability is arrested in immortal cells which express telomerase activity. The EMBO journal, 1992. 11(5): p. 1921-1929.
- Maser, R.S. and R.A. DePinho, *Connecting chromosomes, crisis, and cancer*. Science, 2002. 297(5581): p. 565-569.
- 167. Wright, W.E. and J.W. Shay, *Historical claims and current interpretations of replicative aging*. Nature biotechnology, 2002. **20**(7): p. 682-688.
- Blackburn, E.H., Switching and signaling at the telomere. Cell, 2001. 106(6): p. 661-673.
- 169. Karlseder, J., A. Smogorzewska, and T. de Lange, *Senescence induced by altered telomere state, not telomere loss.* Science, 2002. **295**(5564): p. 2446-2449.
- 170. Li, G.-Z., et al., Evidence that exposure of the telomere 3' overhang sequence induces senescence. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2003.
  100(2): p. 527-531.
- 171. Stewart, S.A., et al., *Erosion of the telomeric single-strand overhang at replicative senescence*. Nature genetics, 2003. **33**(4): p. 492-496.
- Bestilny, L.J., et al., Selective inhibition of telomerase activity during terminal differentiation of immortal cell lines. Cancer research, 1996. 56(16): p. 3796-3802.
- 173. Savoysky, E., et al., Down-regulation of telomerase activity is an early event in the differentiation of HL60 cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 1996. 226(2): p. 329-334.
- 174. Xu, D., et al., Suppression of telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) expression in differentiated HL-60 cells: regulatory mechanisms. British journal of cancer, 1999. 80(8): p. 1156-1161.

- 175. Takakura, M., et al., Expression of human telomerase subunits and correlation with telomerase activity in cervical cancer. Cancer research, 1998. 58(7): p. 1558-1561.
- 176. Vaziri, H. and S. Benchimol, Reconstitution of telomerase activity in normal human cells leads to elongation of telomeres and extended replicative life span. Current Biology, 1998. 8(5): p. 279-282.
- 177. Wen, J., Y.-S. Cong, and S. Bacchetti, *Reconstitution of wild-type or mutant telomerase activity in telomerase-negative immortal human cells*. Human molecular genetics, 1998. 7(7): p. 1137-1141.
- 178. Counter, C.M., et al., *Telomerase activity is restored in human cells by ectopic expression of hTERT (hEST2), the catalytic subunit of telomerase.* Oncogene, 1998. **16**(9): p. 1217-1222.
- Poole, J.C., L.G. Andrews, and T.O. Tollefsbol, *Activity, function, and gene regulation of the catalytic subunit of telomerase (hTERT)*. Gene, 2001. 269(1-2): p. 1-12.
- 180. Njajou, O.T., et al., Association between telomere length, specific causes of death, and years of healthy life in health, aging, and body composition, a populationbased cohort study. Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences and Medical Sciences, 2009. 64(8): p. 860-864.
- 181. Gonzalez-Suarez, E., et al., Antagonistic effects of telomerase on cancer and aging in K5-mTert transgenic mice. Oncogene, 2005. **24**(13): p. 2256-2270.
- 182. González-Suárez, E., et al., Increased epidermal tumors and increased skin wound healing in transgenic mice overexpressing the catalytic subunit of telomerase, mTERT, in basal keratinocytes. The EMBO journal, 2001. 20(11): p. 2619-2630.
- 183. González-Giraldo, Y., et al., Neuroprotective effects of the catalytic subunit of telomerase: a potential therapeutic target in the central nervous system. Ageing research reviews, 2016. 28: p. 37-45.

- 184. Depcrynski, A.N., et al., Regulation of Telomerase Through Transcriptional and Posttranslational Mechanisms, in Telomeres and Telomerase in Cancer. 2009, Springer. p. 47-85.
- 185. Endoh, T., et al., Survivin enhances telomerase activity via up-regulation of specificity protein 1-and c-Myc-mediated human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene transcription. Experimental cell research, 2005. 305(2): p. 300-311.
- 186. Katzenellenbogen, R.A., et al., NFX1-123 and poly (A) binding proteins synergistically augment activation of telomerase in human papillomavirus type 16 E6-expressing cells. Journal of virology, 2007. 81(8): p. 3786-3796.
- 187. McMurray, H. and D. McCance, Degradation of p53, not telomerase activation, by E6 is required for bypass of crisis and immortalization by human papillomavirus type 16 E6/E7. Journal of virology, 2004. 78(11): p. 5698-5706.
- 188. Yik, M.Y., et al., Mechanism of Human Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase (hTERT) Regulation and Clinical Impacts in Leukemia. Genes, 2021. 12(8): p. 1188.
- 189. Wang, J., et al., *Myc activates telomerase*. Genes & development, 1998. 12(12):
   p. 1769-1774.
- Horikawa, I., et al., Cloning and characterization of the promoter region of human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene. Cancer research, 1999. 59(4): p. 826-830.
- 191. Takakura, M., et al., Cloning of human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene promoter and identification of proximal core promoter essential for transcriptional activation in immortalized and cancer cells. Cancer Res, 1999. 59: p. 551-557.
- 192. Wick, M., D. Zubov, and G. Hagen, Genomic organization and promoter characterization of the gene encoding the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT). Gene, 1999. 232(1): p. 97-106.
- 193. Wu, K.-J., et al., *Direct activation of TERT transcription by c-MYC*. Nature genetics, 1999. **21**(2): p. 220-224.

- 194. Kyo, S., et al., Sp1 cooperates with c-Myc to activate transcription of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (hTERT). Nucleic acids research, 2000.
  28(3): p. 669-677.
- 195. Greenberg, R.A., et al., *Telomerase reverse transcriptase gene is a direct target of c-Myc but is not functionally equivalent in cellular transformation*. Oncogene, 1999. 18(5): p. 1219-1226.
- 196. Saffer, J.D., S. Jackson, and M. Annarella, *Developmental expression of Sp1 in the mouse*. Molecular and cellular biology, 1991. **11**(4): p. 2189-2199.
- 197. Misiti, S., et al., Induction of hTERT expression and telomerase activity by estrogens in human ovary epithelium cells. Molecular and cellular biology, 2000.
  20(11): p. 3764-3771.
- 198. Kanaya, T., et al., Adenoviral expression of p53 represses telomerase activity through down-regulation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase transcription. Clinical cancer research, 2000. **6**(4): p. 1239-1247.
- 199. Attias-Geva, Z., et al., p53 Regulates insulin-like growth factor-I receptor gene expression in uterine serous carcinoma and predicts responsiveness to an insulinlike growth factor-I receptor-directed targeted therapy. European Journal of Cancer, 2012. 48(10): p. 1570-1580.
- 200. Ahmed, S., et al., Telomerase does not counteract telomere shortening but protects mitochondrial function under oxidative stress. Journal of cell science, 2008. 121(7): p. 1046-1053.
- 201. Chou, W.-C., et al., Arsenic suppresses gene expression in promyelocytic leukemia cells partly through Sp1 oxidation. Blood, 2005. **106**(1): p. 304-310.
- 202. Santos, J.H., J.N. Meyer, and B. Van Houten, *Mitochondrial localization of telomerase as a determinant for hydrogen peroxide-induced mitochondrial DNA damage and apoptosis.* Human molecular genetics, 2006. **15**(11): p. 1757-1768.
- 203. Haendeler, J., et al., Hydrogen peroxide triggers nuclear export of telomerase reverse transcriptase via Src kinase family-dependent phosphorylation of tyrosine 707. Molecular and cellular biology, 2003. 23(13): p. 4598-4610.

- 204. Haendeler, J., et al., Antioxidants inhibit nuclear export of telomerase reverse transcriptase and delay replicative senescence of endothelial cells. Circulation research, 2004. **94**(6): p. 768-775.
- 205. Sharma, N.K., et al., *Human telomerase acts as a hTR-independent reverse transcriptase in mitochondria*. Nucleic acids research, 2012. **40**(2): p. 712-725.
- 206. Singhapol, C., et al., *Mitochondrial telomerase protects cancer cells from nuclear DNA damage and apoptosis.* PloS one, 2013. **8**(1): p. e52989.
- 207. Haendeler, J., et al., *Mitochondrial telomerase reverse transcriptase binds to and protects mitochondrial DNA and function from damage*. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 2009. **29**(6): p. 929-935.
- 208. Indran, I.R., M.P. Hande, and S. Pervaiz, hTERT Overexpression Alleviates Intracellular ROS Production, Improves Mitochondrial Function, and Inhibits ROS-Mediated Apoptosis in Cancer CellshTERT, Mitochondria, and ROS. Cancer research, 2011. 71(1): p. 266-276.
- 209. Kovalenko, O.A., et al., *A mutant telomerase defective in nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling fails to immortalize cells and is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction.* Aging cell, 2010. **9**(2): p. 203-219.
- 210. Mattiussi, M., et al., Human telomerase represses ROS-dependent cellular responses to Tumor Necrosis Factor-α without affecting NF-κB activation. Cellular signalling, 2012. 24(3): p. 708-717.
- 211. Green, P.D., N.K. Sharma, and J.H. Santos, *Telomerase impinges on the cellular response to oxidative stress through mitochondrial ROS-mediated regulation of autophagy*. International journal of molecular sciences, 2019. 20(6): p. 1509.
- 212. Bubici, C., et al., Mutual cross-talk between reactive oxygen species and nuclear factor-kappa B: molecular basis and biological significance. Oncogene, 2006.
  25(51): p. 6731-6748.
- Jang, J.-H. and Y.-J. Surh, *Bcl-2 attenuation of oxidative cell death is associated with up-regulation of γ-glutamylcysteine ligase via constitutive NF-κB activation.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2004. 279(37): p. 38779-38786.

- Allen, R. and M. Tresini, *Oxidative stress and gene regulation*. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2000. 28(3): p. 463-499.
- 215. Soriano, F.X., et al., *Transcriptional regulation of the AP-1 and Nrf2 target gene sulfiredoxin*. Molecules and cells, 2009. **27**(3): p. 279-282.
- Wei, Q., et al., Sulfiredoxin is an AP-1 target gene that is required for transformation and shows elevated expression in human skin malignancies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. 105(50): p. 19738-19743.
- 217. Kimura, A., et al., Induction of hTERT expression and phosphorylation by estrogen via Akt cascade in human ovarian cancer cell lines. Oncogene, 2004.
  23(26): p. 4505-4515.
- 218. Akiyama, M., et al., Nuclear factor-κB p65 mediates tumor necrosis factor αinduced nuclear translocation of telomerase reverse transcriptase protein. Cancer research, 2003. 63(1): p. 18-21.
- 219. Sharma, G.G., et al., *hTERT associates with human telomeres and enhances genomic stability and DNA repair.* Oncogene, 2003. **22**(1): p. 131-146.
- Janknecht, R., On the road to immortality: hTERT upregulation in cancer cells.
   FEBS letters, 2004. 564(1-2): p. 9-13.
- 221. Yin, L., A.K. Hubbard, and C. Giardina, NF-κB regulates transcription of the mouse telomerase catalytic subunit. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2000.
   275(47): p. 36671-36675.
- 222. Sinha-Datta, U., et al., *Transcriptional activation of hTERT through the NF-κB pathway in HTLV-I–transformed cells*. Blood, 2004. **104**(8): p. 2523-2531.
- 223. Klapper, W., et al., *Regulation of telomerase activity in quiescent immortalized human cells*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Structure and Expression, 1998. **1442**(2-3): p. 120-126.
- 224. de Magalhães, J.P., *The biology of ageing*. An introduction to gerontology, 2011: p. 21-47.
- 225. Aydin, Y., Antiaging strategies based on telomerase activity, in Molecular Basis and Emerging Strategies for Anti-aging Interventions. 2018, Springer. p. 97-109.

- 226. De Magalhães, J.P., *How ageing processes influence cancer*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2013. **13**(5): p. 357-365.
- 227. Bär, C. and M.A. Blasco, *Telomeres and telomerase as therapeutic targets to prevent and treat age-related diseases.* F1000Research, 2016. **5**.
- 228. Hamzelou, J., Time to stop getting old. 2017, Elsevier.
- 229. Tan, B.L., et al., Antioxidant and oxidative stress: a mutual interplay in agerelated diseases. Frontiers in pharmacology, 2018. **9**: p. 1162.
- 230. Liu, J., et al., Roles of telomere biology in cell senescence, replicative and chronological ageing. Cells, 2019. **8**(1): p. 54.
- 231. Koliada, A.K., D.S. Krasnenkov, and A.M. Vaiserman, *Telomeric aging: mitotic clock or stress indicator?* Frontiers in genetics, 2015. **6**: p. 82.
- 232. Bjelakovic, G., D. Nikolova, and C. Gluud, *Antioxidant supplements and mortality*. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care, 2014. 17(1): p. 40-44.
- 233. Maleki, M., et al., *Stabilization of telomere by the antioxidant property of polyphenols: Anti-aging potential.* Life Sciences, 2020: p. 118341.
- 234. Li, H., et al., Integrated high-throughput analysis identifies Sp1 as a crucial determinant of p53-mediated apoptosis. Cell Death & Differentiation, 2014.
  21(9): p. 1493-1502.
- 235. Altermann, E. and T.R. Klaenhammer, *PathwayVoyager: pathway mapping using the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) database.* BMC genomics, 2005. **6**(1): p. 1-7.
- 236. Sedlmeier, M. and M. Gogolla. Model Driven ActiveRecord with yEd. in Proc. Int. 25th Int. Conf. Information Modelling and Knowledge Bases (EJC'2015). 2016.
- 237. Karl, S. and T. Dandekar, *Jimena: efficient computing and system state identification for genetic regulatory networks*. BMC bioinformatics, 2013. 14(1): p. 1-11.
- Albert, I., et al., *Boolean network simulations for life scientists*. Source code for biology and medicine, 2008. 3(1): p. 1-8.

- 239. Di Cara, A., et al., Dynamic simulation of regulatory networks using SQUAD.
  BMC bioinformatics, 2007. 8(1): p. 1-10.
- Wittmann, D.M., et al., *Transforming Boolean models to continuous models:* methodology and application to *T*-cell receptor signaling. BMC systems biology, 2009. 3(1): p. 1-21.
- 241. Krumsiek, J., et al., *Odefy-from discrete to continuous models*. BMC bioinformatics, 2010. **11**(1): p. 1-10.
- 242. Sievert, C., et al., *plotly: Create Interactive Web Graphics via 'plotly. js'*. R package version, 2017. **4**(1): p. 110.
- 243. Wei, Y., et al., *Multiple direct interactions of TBP with the MYC oncoprotein*. Nature structural & molecular biology, 2019. **26**(11): p. 1035-1043.
- 244. La Sala, G., et al., Selective inhibition of STAT3 signaling using monobodies targeting the coiled-coil and N-terminal domains. Nature communications, 2020.
  11(1): p. 1-16.
- 245. Chowdhury, R., et al., *Structural basis for oxygen degradation domain selectivity of the HIF prolyl hydroxylases.* Nature communications, 2016. **7**(1): p. 1-10.
- 246. Ansideri, F., et al., Structural Optimization of a Pyridinylimidazole scaffold: shifting the selectivity from p38α mitogen-activated protein kinase to c-Jun Nterminal kinase 3. ACS omega, 2018. **3**(7): p. 7809-7831.
- 247. Wei, Y., et al., *Multiple direct interactions of TBP with the MYC oncoprotein*. 2019. **26**(11): p. 1035-1043.
- 248. La Sala, G., et al., Selective inhibition of STAT3 signaling using monobodies targeting the coiled-coil and N-terminal domains. 2020. **11**(1): p. 1-16.
- 249. Chowdhury, R., et al., *Structural basis for oxygen degradation domain selectivity of the HIF prolyl hydroxylases.* 2016. **7**(1): p. 1-10.
- 250. Ansideri, F., et al., Structural Optimization of a Pyridinylimidazole scaffold: shifting the selectivity from p38α mitogen-activated protein kinase to c-Jun Nterminal kinase 3. 2018. 3(7): p. 7809-7831.
- 251. Kozakov, D., et al., *How good is automated protein docking?* Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics, 2013. 81(12): p. 2159-2166.

- Laskowski, R.A., et al., *PDBsum: Structural summaries of PDB entries*. Protein science, 2018. 27(1): p. 129-134.
- 253. Kwon, J.J., et al., *Structure–function analysis of the SHOC2–MRAS–PP1C holophosphatase complex.* Nature, 2022: p. 1-8.
- 254. Berendsen, H.J., D. van der Spoel, and R. van Drunen, *GROMACS: A message*passing parallel molecular dynamics implementation. Computer physics communications, 1995. **91**(1-3): p. 43-56.
- 255. Brazvan, B., et al., *Telomerase activity and telomere on stem progeny senescence*.Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, 2018. 102: p. 9-17.
- Schuler, M. and D. Green, *Mechanisms of p53-dependent apoptosis*. Biochemical Society Transactions, 2001. 29(6): p. 684-688.
- 257. Liu, J. and L. Du, PERK pathway is involved in oxygen-glucose-serum deprivation-induced NF-kB activation via ROS generation in spinal cord astrocytes. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 2015. 467(2): p. 197-203.
- 258. Duyao, M., et al., *Binding of NF-KB-like factors to regulatory sequences of the cmyc gene*, in *Mechanisms in B-Cell Neoplasia 1990*. 1990, Springer. p. 211-220.
- 259. Kovacic, P. and J.A. Osuna Jr, *Mechanisms of anti-cancer agents emphasis on oxidative stress and electron transfer*. Current pharmaceutical design, 2000. 6(3): p. 277-309.
- 260. Watson, J., Oxidants, antioxidants and the current incurability of metastatic cancers. Open Biol 3: 120144. 2013.
- 261. Tsai, M.-H., et al., Artocarpin, an isoprenyl flavonoid, induces p53-dependent or independent apoptosis via ROS-mediated MAPKs and Akt activation in non-small cell lung cancer cells. Oncotarget, 2017. 8(17): p. 28342.
- 262. Oppenheim, A. and G. Lahav, *The puzzling interplay between p53 and Sp1*. Aging (Albany NY), 2017. 9(5): p. 1355.
- 263. Chung, S.S., C. Aroh, and J.V. Vadgama, Constitutive activation of STAT3 signaling regulates hTERT and promotes stem cell-like traits in human breast cancer cells. PloS one, 2013. 8(12): p. e83971.

- 264. Lai, C.K., J.R. Mitchell, and K. Collins, *RNA binding domain of telomerase reverse transcriptase*. Molecular and cellular biology, 2001. **21**(4): p. 990-1000.
- 265. Farahzadi, R., et al., Anti-aging protective effect of L-carnitine as clinical agent in regenerative medicine through increasing telomerase activity and change in the hTERT promoter CpG island methylation status of adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue and Cell, 2018. **54**: p. 105-113.
- Bates, S. and K. Vousden, *Mechanisms of p53-mediated apoptosis*. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS, 1999. 55(1): p. 28-37.
- 267. Liu, B., Y. Chen, and D.K.S. Clair, *ROS and p53: a versatile partnership*. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2008. 44(8): p. 1529-1535.
- 268. Shukla, R. and T. Tripathi, Molecular dynamics simulation of protein and protein-ligand complexes, in Computer-aided drug design. 2020, Springer. p. 133-161.